
 

 
 

Law & Democracy 
Democratic Services 

 

 

 

TO COUNCILLOR: 
 

Mrs R H Adams 
G A Boulter 

Mrs L M Broadley (Chair) 
F S Broadley 
D M Carter 

M H Charlesworth 
M L Darr (Vice-Chair) 

R F Eaton 
Mrs L Eaton JP 
D A Gamble 

F S Ghattoraya 
J Kaufman 

Mrs L Kaufman 
C D Kozlowski 

Mrs H E Loydall 
 

Dear Sir or Madam 
 

I hereby SUMMON you to attend a meeting of the LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE 
to be held at the COUNCIL OFFICES, STATION ROAD, WIGSTON on THURSDAY, 5 MARCH 
2020 at 6.30 PM for the transaction of the business set out in the Agenda below. 

 

 Yours faithfully 
 

 

Council Offices 
Wigston 
26 February 2020 

 
 

Mrs Anne E Court 
Chief Executive 

 

I T E M  N O . A G E N D A P A G E  N O ’ S 

 

1.   Apologies for Absence  

 To receive apologies for absence from Members to determine the quorum of the 
meeting in accordance with Rule 7 of Part 4 of the Constitution. 

 

2.   Appointment of Substitutes  

 To appoint substitute Members in accordance with Rule 26 of Part 4 of the 
Constitution and the Substitution Procedure Rules. 

 

3.   Declarations of Interest  

 Members are reminded that any declaration of interest should be made having 
regard to the Members’ Code of Conduct. In particular, Members must make 
clear the nature of the interest and whether it is 'pecuniary' or ‘non-pecuniary'. 

 

4.   Minutes of the Previous Meeting 3 - 6 

 To read, confirm and sign the minutes of the previous meeting in accordance 
with Rule 19 of Part 4 of the Constitution. 

 

5.   Action List Arising from the Previous Meeting 7 

 To read, confirm and note the Action List arising from the previous meeting.  

~ Page 1 ~



 

Licensing and Regulatory Committee  
Thursday, 5 March 2020 

 Printed and published by Democratic Services,  
Oadby and Wigston Borough Council, Council Offices, 

Station Road, Wigston, Leicestershire, LE18 2DR 
 

6.   Petitions and Deputations  

 To receive any Petitions and, or, Deputations in accordance with Rule(s) 11 and 
12 of Part 4 of the Constitution and the Petitions Procedure Rules respectively. 

 

7.   Review of Hackney Carriage / Private Hire Vehicle Policy (March 2020) 8 - 72 

 Report of the Licensing Enforcement Officer  

8.   Licensing Update (Q2 & Q3 2019/20) 73 - 83 

 Report of the Licensing Enforcement Officer  

9.   Environmental Health Update (Q2 & Q3 2019/20) 84 - 89 

 Report of the Regulatory Services Manager  

10.   Exclusion of the Press and Public  

 The press and public are likely to be excluded from the remainder of the 
meeting in accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 
(Exempt Information) during consideration of the item(s) below on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information, as defined in the 
respective paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act and, in all the 
circumstances, the public interest in maintaining the exempt item(s) outweighs 
the public interest in disclosing the information. 

 

11.   Future of the Pest Control Service (March 2020) (Exempt Report) 90 - 94 

 Report of the Head of Law & Democracy / Monitoring Officer  

 
For more information, please contact: 

 
Democratic Services 

Oadby and Wigston Borough Council 
Council Offices 

Station Road, Wigston 
Leicestershire  

LE18 2DR 
 

t:  (0116) 257 2775 
e:  democratic.services@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 

 
You can access all available public meeting documents  

and audio recordings electronically on: 
 

  

 

   

Our website oadby-
wigston.gov.uk under 

'Your Council’ and 
‘Meeting Dates, 

Agendas & Minutes’  

Your smart iPad, 
Android or 

Windows tablet 
device with the 

‘Modern.Gov’ app 

Our audio platform 
soundcloud.com/ 
oadbywigstonbc or 
smart device with the 
‘SoundCloud’ app 

 

~ Page 2 ~

https://moderngov.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
https://moderngov.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1
https://apps.apple.com/gb/app/modern-gov/id1453414073?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
https://www.microsoft.com/en-gb/p/moderngov/9pfpjqcvz8nl
https://soundcloud.com/oadbywigstonbc
https://soundcloud.com/oadbywigstonbc
https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/soundcloud-music-audio/id336353151?mt=8
https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/soundcloud-music-audio/id336353151?mt=8


 

Licensing and Regulatory Committee  
Thursday, 5 September 2019 

Chair’s 
Initials  

 

 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE HELD 
AT THE COUNCIL CHAMBER - COUNCIL OFFICES ON THURSDAY, 5 SEPTEMBER 2019 

COMMENCING AT 6.30 PM 

 
PRESENT 
 
Mrs L M Broadley Chair 
M L Darr Vice-Chair 
 

COUNCILLORS  
 
Mrs R H Adams 
G A Boulter 
D M Carter 
M H Charlesworth 
R F Eaton 
Mrs L Eaton JP 
F S Ghattoraya 
J Kaufman 
C D Kozlowski 
Mrs H E Loydall 

 
 
 
 
 
 
(Arrived at 6.36 pm) 

  

OFFICERS IN ATTENDANCE  
 
S J Ball Trainee Solicitor 
Ms P Fisher Marketing & Insight Manager 
D M Gill Head of Law & Democracy / Monitoring Officer 
J Lucas Selective Licensing Officer 
 

9.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
An apology for absence was received from Councillors F S Broadley, D A Gamble and Mrs L 
Kaufman. 

10.   APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTES 
 
None. 

11.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
Councillor G A Boulter declared a non-pecuniary interest with regard to item 7 of the 
agenda insofar as he owns a property within South Wigston. 

 
Councillor M H Charlesworth declared a non-pecuniary interest with regard to item 10 of 
the agenda insofar as he carries on a mobile food business registered with the Council. 

12.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
By affirmation of the meeting, it was 
 
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 06 June 2019 be taken as read, 
confirmed and signed. 

~ Page 3 ~

Agenda Item 4



 

Licensing and Regulatory Committee  
Thursday, 5 September 2019 

Chair’s 
Initials  

 

 

13.   ACTION LIST ARISING FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
The Committee received a verbal update on action points numbers 1 and 2 on the Action 
List. 
 
By affirmation of the meeting, it was 
 
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The Action List arising from the previous meeting held on 06 June 2019 be 
noted. 

14.   PETITIONS AND DEPUTATIONS 
 
None. 

15.   SELECTIVE LICENSING COMMUNICATIONS PLAN / OADBY & WIGSTON 
HOUSING STRATEGY (2019-2024) 
 
The Committee gave joint consideration to the reports and appendices (as set out at 
pages 4 – 9 and 10 -23 of the agenda reports pack respectively) which asked it:  
 
(a) to note the Council’s plans to consult on a selective licensing scheme for private-

rented homes in South Wigston; and  
(b) to note the Council’s overall strategic position on housing and inform stakeholder’s 

of its strategic priorities. 
 
It was moved by Councillor M H Charlesworth, seconded by Councillor Mrs L Eaton JP and 
 
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The recommendation be amended for the Selective Licensing Communications 
Plan and Housing Strategy (2019-2024) to be approved for consultation 
accordingly. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Mrs H E Loydall, seconded by Councillor D M Carter and 
 
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED THAT: 
 
(i) The contents of the reports and appendices be noted; and 
(ii) The Selective Licensing Communications Plan (as set out at Appendix 1 of 

agenda item 7) and Housing Strategy (2019-2024) (as set out at Appendix 
1 of agenda item 8) be approved for consultation accordingly. 

16.   REVIEW OF STATEMENT OF LICENSING POLICY (2020-2025) 
 
The Committee gave consideration to the report and appendix (as set out at pages 24 - 68 
of the agenda reports pack) which asked it to approve the revised Draft Statement of 
Licensing Policy (2020-2025) for consultation. 
 
It was moved by Councillor M H Charlesworth, seconded by Councillor G A Boulter and 
 
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED THAT: 
 

~ Page 4 ~



 

Licensing and Regulatory Committee  
Thursday, 5 September 2019 

Chair’s 
Initials  

 

 

The revised Draft Statement of Licensing Policy (2020-2025) (as set out at 
Appendix 1) be approved for the purposes of consultation with relevant parties. 

17.   REVIEW OF STREET TRADING POLICY (SEPTEMBER 2019) 
 
The Committee gave consideration to the report (as set out at pages 69 - 72 of the 
agenda reports pack) which asked it to consider a review of the Council’s Street Trading 
Policy. 
 
It was moved by Councillor G A Boulter, seconded by Councillor C D Kozlowski and 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
It be recommend for adoption to Council that: 
 
(i) The Head of Law and Democracy / Monitoring Officer be given delegated 

authority to suspend the Street Trading Policy in a specified street (either 
a prohibited or consent street) for a period not exceeding 24-hours, 
following consultation with the Chief Executive and Ward Members, to 
facilitate community/not-for-profit and charitable events, save as to that 
the delegation not extending to permitting single street traders on what 
would otherwise be prohibited streets; and 
 

(ii) The Head of Law and Democracy / Monitoring Officer be given delegated 
authority to grant individual exemptions to the Street Trading Policy to 
facilitate community/not-for-profit or charitable events for a period not 
exceeding 24-hours in streets that would otherwise be consent streets, 
following consultation with the Chief Executive and Ward Members. 

 
Votes For  11 
Votes Against 0 
Abstentions   2 

18.   LICENSING UPDATE (Q1 2019/20) 
 
The Committee gave consideration to the report and appendix (as set out at pages 73 - 79 
of the agenda reports pack) which asked it to note the work undertaken by the Licensing 
Section during the first quarter of 2019/20. 
 
By affirmation of the meeting, it was 
 
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The contents of the report and appendix be noted. 

19.   ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH UPDATE (Q1 2019/20) 
 
The Committee gave consideration to the report (as set out at pages 80 – 88 of the 
agenda reports pack) which asked it to note the work undertaken by the Environmental 
Health Section during the first quarter of 2019/20. 
 
The Chair requested it be minuted that in view of current pressures faced by the 
Environmental Health Section a Business Plan be prepared to ensure that appropriate staff 
levels were realised to maintain current workload and meet service standards. 

~ Page 5 ~



 

Licensing and Regulatory Committee  
Thursday, 5 September 2019 

Chair’s 
Initials  

 

 

By affirmation of the meeting, it was 
 
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The contents of the report be noted. 

 
THE MEETING CLOSED AT 7.57 PM 

 
 

   

 Chair 
 

 Thursday, 05 March 2020 
 

 
Printed and published by Democratic Services, Oadby and Wigston Borough Council, 

Council Offices, Station Road, Wigston, Leicestershire, LE18 2DR

~ Page 6 ~



 

Licensing and Regulatory Committee  
Thursday, 05 September 2019 

Chair’s  
Initials 

 

 

LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE 

ACTION LIST 

Arising from the Meeting held on Thursday, 05 September 2019 
 

No. 
Minute Ref. /  

Item of Business 
*Action Details /  
Action Due Date 

Responsible 
Officer(s)’ 

Initials 

Action 
Status 

1. 15. - Selective 
Licensing 
Communications Plan 
/ Oadby & Wigston 
Housing Strategy 
(2019-2024) 

The wording of the Housing 
Strategy be reviewed so it better 
conveys the fact that the it 
applies to both the private and 
Council-owned housing stock 
across the whole of the Borough. 

Due by Nov-19 

DaGi 
ToCa 

Complete 

The necessary changes have been made. 

2. 15. - Selective 
Licensing 
Communications Plan 
/ Oadby & Wigston 
Housing Strategy 
(2019-2024) 

A definition of the ‘Decent Homes 
Standard’ be included in the 
Housing Strategy to qualify the 
statistics given in the Strategy. 

Due by Nov-19 

DaGi 
ToCa 

 

Complete 

The necessary changes have been made. 

3. 19. - Environmental 
Health Update (Q1 
2019/20) 

A Business Plan be prepared to 
ensure that appropriate staff 
levels are realised in the 
Environmental Heath Section. 

Due by Mar-20 

DaGi 
ToCa 

 

Verbal 
Update  

Verbal update to be provided at meeting. 

4. 19. - Environmental 
Health Update (Q1 
2019/20) 
 

A communication be published in 
next edition of Letterbox to 
better educate residents on the 
status of abandoned vehicles. 

Due by Jan-20 

TaCa 
PhFi 

 

Complete 

An article will be placed in the January Letterbox with additional 
information going on the Council’s website and on social media. 

 
* | All actions listed are those which are informally raised by Members during the course of debate 
upon a given item of business which do not form part of - but may be additional, incidental or 
ancillary to - any motion(s) carried. These actions are for the attention of the responsible Officer(s). 

  

~ Page 7 ~

Agenda Item 5



 

 

Licensing and 
Regulatory Committee 

Thursday, 05 March 
2020 

Matter for 
Information and 

Decision 

 

Report Title: Review of Hackney Carriage / Private Hire  
Vehicle Policy (March 2020) 

Report Author(s): Tracey Aldwinckle (Licensing Enforcement Officer) 
 

Purpose of Report: To outline a draft Hackney Carriage / Private Hire Licensing Policy 
(“the Policy”) and conditions for approval for consultation. 

Report Summary: The current Policy and conditions have been reviewed with the 
following three objectives in mind: 
 
1. Vehicle conditions are further improved; 
2. Vehicle emissions are further reduced; and 
3. Driver and passenger safety is further improved. 

Recommendation(s): That the Committee considers and makes comment on the 
draft Hackney Carriage / Private Hire Licensing Policy (March 
2020) and approves it for consultation. 

Senior Leadership, 
Head of Service, 
Manager, Officer and 
Other Contact(s): 

David Gill (Head of Law & Democracy / Monitoring Officer) 
(0116) 257 2626 
david.gill@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 
 
Tony Cawthorne (Regulatory Services Manager) 
(0116) 257 2670 
tony.cawthorne@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 
 
Tracey Aldwinckle (Licensing Enforcement Officer) 
(0116) 257 2689 
tracey.aldwinckle@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 

Corporate Objectives: Building, Protecting and Empowering Communities (CO1) 
Providing Excellent Services (CO3) 

Vision and Values: “A Stronger Borough Together” (Vision) 
Accountability (V1) 
Customer Focus (V5) 

Report Implications:- 

Legal: There are no implications directly arising from this report. 

Financial: There are no implications arising from this report. All staffing costs 
associated with the preparation, consultation, adoption and 
enforcement of the Policy and conditions can be met by the existing 
level of staff and budget. 

Corporate Risk 
Management: 

No corporate risk(s) identified. The Department for Transport, Taxi 
and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Best Practice Guidance has been 
fully considered in drafting the proposed conditions which all relate to 
the promotion of public, driver or passenger safety. 

~ Page 8 ~

Agenda Item 7

mailto:david.gill@oadby-wigston.gov.uk
mailto:tony.cawthorne@oadby-wigston.gov.uk
mailto:tracey.aldwinckle@oadby-wigston.gov.uk


 

Equalities and Equalities 
Assessment (EA): 

There are no implications directly arising from this report. 
EA not applicable 

Human Rights: Any interference with property rights protected by Article I and 
Protocol 1 Article 1 of the Human Rights Act must be legitimate, 
necessary and proportionate. 

Health and Safety: There are no implications arising from this report. 

Statutory Officers’ Comments:- 

Head of Paid Service: The report is satisfactory. 

Chief Finance Officer: The report is satisfactory. 

Monitoring Officer: The report is satisfactory. 

Consultees: If  Members approve the draft Policy for consultation, the following 
will be consulted: 
 
 Existing Driver Licence Holders; 
 Existing Vehicle Proprietors; 
 Existing Operator Licence Holders;  
 Leicestershire County Council; 
 Leicestershire Police; and 
 The General Public. 

Background Papers:  Hackney Carriage / Private Hire Licensing Policy (Version 3.0) 
 Department for Transport Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing 

Best Practice Guide (March 2010) 
 Department of Transport Statutory Guidance for Licensing 

Authorities: Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: Protecting 
Users (February 2019) 

 Institute of Licensing's Guidance on Determining the Suitability of 
Applicants and Licensees in the Hackney and Private Hire Trades 
(April 2018) 

Appendices: 1. Draft Hackney Carriage / Private Hire Vehicle Policy (March 2020) 

  

1. Background 

1.1 The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 (LG(MP)A) gives the local 
authority the following discretionary powers in relation to hackney carriage licences: 

1.1.1 Section 47(1) states, a district council may attach to the grant of a licence of a 
hackney carriage under the Act of 1847 (Town Police Clauses Act 1847) such 
conditions as a district council may consider reasonably necessary; 
 

1.1.2 Section 47(2) states, without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing 
subsection, a district council may require any hackney carriage licensed by them 
under the Act of 1847 to be of such design or appearance or bear such 
distinguishing marks as shall clearly identify it as a hackney carriage; 
 

1.1.3 Section 47(3) states that any person aggrieved by any conditions attached to 
such licence may appeal to a Magistrates court; and 

 

~ Page 9 ~

https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/files/documents/hackney_carriage_and_private_hire_licensing_policy1/Taxi%20Policy%20%26%20Appendices.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/212554/taxi-private-hire-licensing-guide.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/212554/taxi-private-hire-licensing-guide.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/784216/taxi-phv-licensing-protecting-users-draft-stat-guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/784216/taxi-phv-licensing-protecting-users-draft-stat-guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/784216/taxi-phv-licensing-protecting-users-draft-stat-guidance.pdf
https://www.instituteoflicensing.org/documents/Guidance_on_Suitability_Web_Version_(16_May_2018).pdf
https://www.instituteoflicensing.org/documents/Guidance_on_Suitability_Web_Version_(16_May_2018).pdf
https://www.instituteoflicensing.org/documents/Guidance_on_Suitability_Web_Version_(16_May_2018).pdf


 

1.1.4 Under Section 48(2) of LG(MP)A 1976 a district council may attach to the grant of 
a licence under this section such conditions as they may consider reasonable 
necessary including, without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing 
provisions of this subsection, conditions requiring or prohibiting the display of 
signs on or from the vehicle to which the licence relates. 

 
1.2 The last review of the Policy was carried out in 2016 with a new policy and set of  
 Conditions being approved August 2018. 
 
1.3 In reviewing the current vehicle conditions, account has been taken of the current edition 

of the Department of Transport Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing Best Practice Guide 
issued in 2010 and the Department for Transport Statutory Guidance for Licensing 
Authorities, Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing, protecting Users issued in February 
2019, and the Institute of Licensing's Guidance on Determining the Suitability of 
Applicants and Licensees in the Hackney and Private Hire Trades issued in April 2018. 
 

1.4 Additions and/or amendments to the Policy are highlighted in yellow in Appendix 1. 
 
2. Information 

2.1 Objective 1 – Vehicle Conditions Are Further Improved 
 

 Requirement for all new vehicles (upon initial application) to be less that 5 years old 
from the date of registration. 

 
 No vehicle licence will be renewed on a vehicle that is more than 10 years of age 

unless that vehicle is in an exceptionally well-maintained condition.  The definition of 
the exceptionally well-maintained condition has been amended.  Vehicles failing 3 
consecutive inspections will fall outside of the definition. 

 
2.2 Objective 2 – Vehicle Emissions Are Reduced 
 

 Implementation date for policy requiring all vehicles to be fitted with at least a Euro 5 
compliant engine from 1 January 2022. 

 
 Implementation date of policy requiring all vehicles to be fitted with at least a Euro 6 

compliant engine from 1 January 2026. 
 
2.3 Objective 3 – Driver And Passenger Safety Is Further Improved. 
 

 Minor change to minimum engine capacity. 
 CCTV (in-car cameras). 

 
3. Consultation 

3.1. 12 week consultation period will take place.  
 

The following individuals and groups will be consulted: 
 

 Existing Driver Licence Holders; 
 Existing Vehicle Proprietors; 
 Existing Operator Licence Holders;  
 Leicestershire County Council; 
 Leicestershire Police; and 
 The General Public. 

 

~ Page 10 ~



 

4. Future Amendments to the Vehicle Policy and Conditions 
 
4.1. This and future issue of the policy and conditions will require further amendment from time 

to time to reflect changes to legislation and central government policy and practice.  In 
order to ensure that any such changes in legislation and central government policy are 
effectively reflected in the policy without unnecessary reference to the Licensing Committee 
it is proposed that such amendments are delegated to the Head of Law and Democracy. 

  
5. Next Steps 

 

 1 April 2020 Devise final draft for consultation  
(considering comments made by the Committee). 

May – June 2020 Consultation period. 

10 September 2020 Report and draft policy and conditions to Committee for approval.  

 

~ Page 11 ~



 

 

 

 

 

OADBY & WIGSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 
 

 

HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND 
PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING POLICY 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Policy Version: 4 
Date of Policy Approval: TBC 
 Next Policy Review: TBC 

~ Page 12 ~

Appendix 1



2 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 Section 1 – Aims and Objectives Page Number 
PART 1.0: Introduction 3 
PART 2.0: Objectives and Aims of the Policy 3 
PART 3.0: The Overriding Objective 4 
PART 4.0: How we will Achieve these Aims 4 
PART 5.0: Legislation Enforced 5 
PART 6.0: The Licensing Regime 5 
PART 7.0: Vehicles 5 
PART 8.0: Drivers 6 
PART 9.0: Operators 7 
PART 10.0: Complaints 7 
PART 11.0: Enforcement 7 
PART 12.0: Best Practice Awards 8 
PART 13.0: Equality and Diversity 8 
PART 14.0: Equality Act 2010 9 

 
Section 2 – Licenses 

 

 

PART 15.0: Licensing of Vehicles and Vehicle Policy 10 
PART 16.0: Licensing of Drivers 24 
PART 17.0: Licensing of Private Hire Operators 30 

 
 
 
 

Appendices 
Appendix 1: Table of Offences 
Appendix 2: Conditions Attached to Private Hire Vehicle Licences 
Appendix 3: Conditions Attached to Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licences 
Appendix 4: Byelaws Applicable to Hackney Carriages 
Appendix 5: Hackney Carriage Taximeter Standards 
Appendix 6: Current Hackney Carriage Fares 
Appendix 7: Private Hire Executive Exemption 
Appendix 8: Conditions Attached to Driver Licences 
Appendix 9: Conditions Attached to Private Hire Operator Licences 
Appendix 10: Policy on Assessing Criminal Convictions 
Appendix 11: Penalty Points Scheme 

Contents 

~ Page 13 ~



3 

 

 

2.0 Objectives of this Policy 

 
 
 

Oadby and Wigston Borough Council is the statutory Licensing Authority for Hackney Carriage and 

Private Hire vehicles, drivers and operators within its Borough. 

Oadby and Wigston Borough Council is committed to achieving the highest standards with regards to 
the vehicles it licenses as hackney carriages. The Borough’s travelling public should be confident that 
licensed vehicles are safe and comfortable and will not breakdown. The Council expects licence 
holders to regularly check and maintain their vehicles to the highest standards. It should be 
presumed that all vehicles presented to the Council’s depot for inspection will pass first time without 
the need for any retests. Any repeated failure by licence holders to maintain their vehicles to that 
required standard may result in a vehicle licence being revoked or not being renewed.  

This Policy is in three sections. This Section outlines the aims and objectives of the policy and the 

licensing regime. Section 2 outlines the Council’s policies on licensing vehicles, drivers and operators. 

The third and final section contains a number of appendixes to this Policy. These are generally 

informative matters such as the offences that may be committed or the conditions that will attach to 

Licences granted by the Council. 
 

Section 3 also outlines the practical and operational procedures and schemes that may be put into 

place by the Council. These appendixes may be varied or added to by the Licensing and Regulatory 

Committee of Oadby and Wigston Borough Council. Licence holders or any other person affected by 

the policy will be given 28 days’ notice of any change. 

 

 

This policy recognises that Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles are an important part of the 

public transport system of England and Wales and to the Borough of Oadby and Wigston. 

Drivers and operators of Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles intend to provide a service to 

members of the public in return for a financial reward. In order to operate, the law requires them to 

be licensed by their local district council. 
 

The purpose of the licensing regime is to ensure that Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles, 

their drivers and operators of such vehicles provide a safe, convenient and attractive form of public 

transport for the citizens of Oadby & Wigston and visitors to the Borough. 

Oadby and Wigston Borough Council seek to encourage a local Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 

trade to thrive within the Borough by offering a high level of customer service to members of the 

public. 
 

Oadby and Wigston Borough Council will endeavour to ensure that at all times all journeys carried 

out within its jurisdiction are done so legally and safely. 

 

 

 

 

1.0 Introduction 

~ Page 14 ~



4 

 

 

3.0 The Overriding Objective 

 

At all times the overriding objective of this policy is public safety. 

 

 
 

In licensing vehicles, drivers and operators the law requires us to endeavour to ensure the safety of 

members of the public by: 

 Ensuring that vehicles are suitable for the purpose of carrying members of the public safely 
and are safe to operate on public roads; 

 Ensuring drivers are “fit and proper” to hold a combined Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
drivers licence within the Borough of Oadby and Wigston. 

 Ensuring operators are “fit and proper” to offer private hire services to members of the 
public, promote high standards and maintain adequate records for the benefit of passengers 
and drivers. 

 
 

We will work with the licensed trade, members of the public and a variety of other agencies in order 

to: 

 Maintain high standards for drivers, vehicles and operators to benefit members of the public 
and the licensed trade. 

 Provide a professional, efficient, accessible, and fair service. 

 Ensure that all parts of the trade operate within their legal requirements. 

 Provide members of the trade and those seeking to join it with relevant information. 
 Ensure the necessary evidential burden and public interest tests as laid down in the current 

“Code for Crown Prosecutors” have been applied properly before prosecutions proceed. A 
copy of the Code can be made available on request or from the CPS web site 
www.cps.gov.uk. 

 Ensure confidentiality. 

 Ensure that the requirements of the Council’s Equal Opportunities Policy are met wherever 
possible. 

 Reduce the frequency in which licence holders are required to attend the Council Offices. 

 Encourage more vehicles to be accessible to persons with disabilities. 

 
We will do this by: 

 

 Setting the standards to be met by vehicles, drivers and operators. 

 Scheduled, routine and random inspections of vehicles, drivers and operators. 

 Routine and random inspection of documents. 
 Only making a decision on whether a driver or operator is ““fit and proper”” after following  

a series of checks as outlined in this policy. 

 Working with other agencies, such as the Police, Department of Transport and VOSA, whilst 
giving assistance to other agencies such as the UK Border Agency and Her Majesty’s 
Revenues and Customs. 

 Imposing and monitoring compliance with licence conditions and local byelaws. 

4.0 How we will achieve these Aims 

~ Page 15 ~

http://www.cps.gov.uk/


5 

 

 

6.0 The Licensing Regime 

7.0 Vehicles 

 
 
 

There are two Acts of Parliament that predominantly affect vehicles used as Hackney Carriages or 

Private Hire Vehicles, their drivers and, in respect of private hire, their operators. 

These Acts are: 
 

 Town Police Clauses Act 1847 

 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provision) Act 1976 

A number of other Acts, Regulations and Byelaws impinge on the activities of the trade. These 

include the Road Traffic Act 1995, Equality Act 2010 and the Oadby and Wigston Hackney Carriage 

Byelaws. 

Copies of the Acts of Parliament are available from www.legislation.gov.uk. 
 

A table of offences that may be committed under these Acts is included at Appendix 1. 
 
 

 

Some activities are considered to be a potential risk to the safety of members of the public that the 

law requires an approval in the form of a licence. This is the case with the Taxi and Private Hire 

vehicle trade who transport members of the public to their chosen destination in return for reward. 
 

The legislation in relation to this area creates three types of licence: 
 

1. Vehicles (Hackney Carriage and Private Hire). 
 

2. Drivers (Hackney Carriage and Private Hire). 
 

3. Operators (Private Hire only). 
 

A journey not carried out in accordance with the correct licences is not only illegal it is likely to 

invalidate the drivers insurance which could have serious consequences should an accident occur. 

 

 
A licence is required for any vehicle which is proposed to be used for the carriage of passengers for 

hire or reward and seats 8 passengers or less. Vehicles which seat 9 or more people are classed as 

Public Service Vehicles and require a licence from the Department for Transport. 

Oadby and Wigston Borough Council licence both Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicles 

depending upon the type an applicant chooses to operate. 

5.0 Legislation Enforced 

~ Page 16 ~

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/


6 

 

 

8.0 Drivers 

Sections 47 LG(MP)A 1976 permit a District Council to attach conditions to licences for vehicles, 

which may specify type and standard suitable for licensing and may require vehicles to be of 

suitable shape, design and appearance to identify it as a Hackney Carriage. 
 

Section 48 of the LG(MP)A1976 states that a District Council cannot licence a Vehicle as a Private 

Hire vehicle unless it is satisfied that the vehicle is suitable in type, size and design for use as a 

Private Hire vehicle. Conditions can also be attached to any such licence. 

HACKNEY CARRIAGE OR PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES 
 

The main difference between Hackney Carriages and Private Hire vehicles is that Hackney Carriages 

can be hailed (“flagged down”) in a public street or hired from a taxi rank. Private Hire vehicles must 

be pre-booked through a licensed Private Hire Operator and are not permitted to wait on a rank or 

be booked directly from a public street. 
 

Should a Private Hire vehicle driver accept a fare which has not been pre-booked through an 

operator, he is committing an offence and is liable to be prosecuted. It is also important to note that 

anyone making a journey in a Private Hire vehicle which has not been pre-booked is likely to be 

uninsured for the journey. 
 

Hackney Carriages in Oadby and Wigston are identifiable by the display of a “blue plate” and Private 

Hire Vehicles are identifiable by the display of an “orange plate”. 

A further explanation is given in the section on Vehicle licenses. 
 
 

 
 

Any person who drives a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle licensed by Oadby and Wigston 
Borough Council must also be licensed by the Council. 

 
Section 59 of the LG(MP)A 1976 states that a District Council cannot grant a licence to any person 
unless it is satisfied that they are a “fit and proper” person to carry out work as a licensed driver. 

 
All new applicants must have held a driving licence for 12 months and have passed the Driver 
Standards Agency (DSA) advanced driving test for Taxi and Private Hire vehicle drivers. 

 
Conditions are attached to all driver licenses issued by the Council. Failure to comply with those 
conditions could lead to the enforcement action being taken which may result in prosecution and 
fines being imposed by the Court. 

 
 More details on how we assess whether a driver is “fit and proper” is contained in the section on 
drivers. 

~ Page 17 ~



7 

 

 

10.0 Complaints 

11.0 Enforcement 

 
 

It is an offence for any person to operate vehicles for Private Hire within the Borough of Oadby and 

Wigston without first having been granted an operator’s licence by the Council. 

Under section 80 of the LG(MP)A 1976, “Operate” means in the course of business to make  

provision for the invitation or acceptance of bookings for Private Hire vehicles. 
 

An operator will only be licensed if the Council is satisfied that the operator is a “fit and proper” 

person to hold such a licence. 
 

 Details as to how we assess if an operator is “fit and proper” is found in the section on operators. 
 
 

 

COMPLAINTS AGAINST THE TRADE 
 

A complaint from the public about a driver, vehicle or operator must be made in writing. Upon 

receipt by the Council it will be recorded and allocated to an investigating officer. The complaint will 

be acknowledged within 5 working days. It will then be investigated. This may take the form of 

interviews with the complainant, the licensee, witnesses and other agencies. A full response will be 

prepared, and if appropriate, action will be taken against the licensee. This may include issuing 

warning letters and the suspension or revocation of licence. 

 

COMPLAINTS AGAINST THE COUNCIL 
 

A complaint by any member of the trade or the public about the Officers of the Council is dealt with 

using the Council’s Corporate Complaints procedure. Details of this procedure are available from the 

Council Website or from the Council Offices. 

 

 

In order to ensure compliance with the various enactments and regulations applicable to Hackney 

Carriage and Private Hire licence holders the Council is required to carry out a variety of 

enforcement action. 
 

Enforcement action taken by Council Officers will be in line with the Council’s Corporate 

Enforcement Policy. 

9.0 Operators 

~ Page 18 ~



8 

 

 

12.0 Best Practice Awards 

13.0 Equality and Diversity 

All enforcement action taken by the Licensing Section in respect of Hackney Carriage and Private 

Hire licences will be carried out where it is necessary in the interest of public safety for ensuring that 

the conditions and standards specified by the Council are being met. 
 

There are a variety of offences that can be committed under the legislation governing this 

policy and a range of enforcement powers open to the Council to deal with such offences. 

Where the law has been breached the Council always reserve the right to prosecute. A 

prosecution will normally only be appropriate where it is in the public interest. The Council 

may also choose to caution an offender, give a written warning, impose penalty points or 

revoke a licence. 

 
 

 
Oadby and Wigston Borough Council encourages good practice and high standards by its 

licensed operators and drivers. The Council therefore intends to formulate schemes and 

methods of rewarding operators and drivers who excel within the Borough. 

 

 

Oadby and Wigston is a Borough that is rightfully proud of its diversity. Taxi drivers and operators 

licensed by the Borough come from a variety of backgrounds, as do the members of the public that 

use those services. 
 

Oadby and Wigston Borough Council has an Equality and Diversity Action Plan and Equality and 

Diversity Statement of Intent in place to ensure that customers of the council are not unfairly 

discriminated against. 
 

This will include ensuring that applications for licences and information, including this policy, will be 

available upon request in different languages or formats. The Council’s website is also capable of 

translating our web pages into different languages. 

The council will not tolerate any type of discrimination to customers by drivers or operators and will 

investigate all such complaints in line with the Councils’ complaint procedure. 
 

We also will endeavour to support drivers and operators where they are subjected to any form of 

discriminatory abuse by members of the public using their services. 

~ Page 19 ~



9 

 

 

 
 
 

The Equality Act 2010 imposes duties on drivers, operators and the Council to prevent discrimination 

and improve the level of service given to disabled passengers. 

Designated Wheel chair accessible vehicles 
 

The Council will maintain a list of “designated vehicles” under section 167 of this Act. “Designated 

vehicles” are those which are wheelchair accessible. This list will be published by the Council to allow 

customers requiring wheelchair accessible vehicles to know which operators can provide that 

service. The council will actively promote this list of vehicles. The proprietor of a “designated 

vehicle” may appeal against its inclusion on this list to the Magistrates Court. 
 

Duties to assist passengers in wheelchairs 
 

Section 165 of the Act imposes duties on drivers of “designated vehicles” to: 
 

 Carry the passenger while in the wheelchair 

 Not to make an additional charge for doing so 

 If the passenger chooses to sit in a passenger seat to carry the wheelchair 

 Take such steps as are necessary to ensure the passenger is carried in safety and reasonable 

comfort; and 

 Give the passenger such mobility assistance as is reasonably required. 

The driver of a designated vehicle unable to carry out these duties may apply to the Council for an 

exemption order. The Head of Corporate Resources will grant an exemption order only if satisfied 

that is appropriate to do so on medical grounds or because the driver’s physical condition makes it 

impossible or unreasonably difficult for him to comply with the above duties. 
 

Guide Dogs and Assistance Dogs 
 

Sections 168 to 171 of the Act duplicate the provisions of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995 in 

relation to guide dogs and assistance dogs. All drivers have a duty to carry guide dogs or assistance 

dogs. Drivers who have a medical condition that is aggravated by exposure to dogs may apply to the 

Licensing Authority for an exemption certificate. Before considering if to grant an exemption 

certificate the Licensing Authority will require confirmation of the medical condition from the 

applicants GP. The decision will then be made by the Head of Corporate Resources. 
 

The failure of a driver to accept a guide dog or assistance dog is an offence that could result in a 

fine of up to £1000. 

14.0 Equality Act 2010 

~ Page 20 ~



10 

 

 

 
 

1. Introduction 
 

The difference between Hackney Carriages and Private Hire Vehicles may not be readily apparent but 

the following should explain the distinctions. 

A Hackney Carriage (commonly known as a “taxi”) may ‘ply for hire’ from an appointed “taxi” or 

Hackney Carriage stand or rank within the district in which it is licensed. It may also be hailed and 

booked from a public street in that district. 
 

A Hackney Carriage licensed by Oadby and Wigston Borough Council will be required to have a taxi 

meter fitted restricting the charges to those set by the Council and display a roof sign on the vehicle 

at all times identifying it as a Hackney Carriage or simply a “Taxi”. 
 

A Private Hire Vehicle may only undertake journeys booked in advance. The charges for such 

journeys are not subject to the Council’s control and should be agreed between the hirer and the 

operator prior to the commencement of a journey. 

A Private Hire vehicle licensed by Oadby and Wigston Borough Council cannot be of such design or 

appearance to lead any person to think it is a Hackney Carriage. Roof signs are permitted in line with 

the Councils policy on roof signs. 
 

Hackney Carriages or Private Hire Vehicles licensed by Oadby and Wigston Borough Council must 

display internal and external licence plates at all times in a position approved by the Council. 

A vehicle licensed as a Hackney Carriage or a Private Hire Vehicle remains a licensed vehicle at all 

times. A vehicle only ceases to be a licensed when its plate expires, is surrendered to the Council, or 

revoked. The plate must then be returned to the Council. 
 

A Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle may ONLY be driven by the holder of a Hackney 

Carriage/Private Hire Vehicle Drivers Licence issued by this Council. 

2. The Justification for a Vehicle Policy 
 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles are exempt from requiring an MOT by the Motor  

Vehicles (Test) Regulations 1976. Oadby and Wigston Borough Council has the responsibility and 

duty to ensure that the vehicles it licences are in suitable mechanical condition to be used on public 

roads and do not cause a danger to the safety of members of the public. 
 

The Council’s policy on vehicles exists for the reasons of Public Safety. 
 

3. General 
 

All vehicles licensed by Oadby and Wigston Borough Council must: 
 

(I) a minimum of 4 doors  
(ii) an engine capacity exceeding 1250cc or equivalent powered electric vehicle  

15.0 Vehicle Licenses 

~ Page 21 ~



11 

 

 

With respect to seating, this should be padded. Slatted wooden seats are considered inadequate. 
Where seats are continuous, 1 foot 4 inches (approximately 41 centimetres) measured horizontally 
along the front of each seat, should be allowed for each passenger. Any vehicle which is constructed 
or adapted to seat more than 8 passengers cannot be licensed as a hackney carriage vehicle.  
The vehicle must be right hand drive.  
The vehicle must not be a convertible.  
The vehicle must not be registered as an insurance category C, D, N or S 
The vehicle must have EU Type Approval but if not then a Department for Transport Certificate of 
Single Vehicle Approval must be produced.  

 

4. Colour Restrictions 
 

Generally there are no restrictions on the colour of a vehicle. Consideration will be given closely to 

black vehicles requiring a Private Hire Vehicle licence where its size and shape may lead members of 

the public into believing that it to be a Hackney Carriage. The Licensing Authority will give due to 

consideration to an application where the colour, when taken with the remainder of vehicles 

physical appearance is such to render a vehicle unsuitable. 
 

5. VEHICLE AGE AND CONDITION 
 

A policy relating to vehicle age was introduced with the aim of improving the condition of licensed 
vehicles. Since introducing the policy the percentage of vehicles passing an inspection at the first 
attempt has increased.  
The age of the vehicle is to be taken from the vehicle registration document. Where the age of a “Q” 
registered vehicle is not identifiable the age will be calculated as 3 years old at the date of “Q” 
registration in line with the policy of the DVLA and taken from the registration document.  
 
Definitions:  
 
The vehicle must not be registered as an insurance category C N,D or S 
Vehicle inspection: An inspection of a vehicle carried out by OWBC appointed mechanics, relating to: 
(a) 12 monthly check; (b) 6 monthly check; (c) spot check at any point during the term of the licence  
Visual inspection: A visual inspection of a vehicle carried out by OWBC appointed officers, relating to: 
(a) new applications; (b) renewal applications; (c) spot checks at any point during the term of the 
licence  
 
Safety critical areas: All areas of a vehicle inspected during a vehicle inspection except the following 
items: bulbs, windscreen wipers, customer feedback notice, condition of luggage / load space, jack, 
fire extinguisher, first-aid kit, taxi-meter, roof sign  

 

The following age limits will therefore apply: 
 

 Vehicles to be licensed for the first time must be under 5 years of age. 

 A Vehicle over the age of 10 years will not be licensed unless it meets the requirements of 
the exception to age limits. 
 

                    The Following exceptions apply: 
(a) Vehicles which are in an exceptionally well maintained condition, (defined below)  
(b)  Ultra low emission vehicles (emissions of less than 75 grams of CO2 per km) 

 
Frequency of Vehicle Tests: 

 

~ Page 22 ~



12 

 

 

 New vehicles under the age of 1 year will require only 1 vehicle test per year. 

 Vehicles between the ages of 1 and 10 years must be tested twice a year (every 6 months). 

 
6. Vehicle Emissions 

 
The policy below applies to new vehicle applications granted on and after the 1 January 2017.  Any 
vehicle with a licence issued by OWBC before 1 January 2017 is exempt. 
 

 From 1 January 2018 all  hackney carriage and private hire vehicles must be fitted with at 
least a Euro 4 compliant engine (registered since January 2005) Euro 3 compliant engines 
or older will not be permitted. 

 From 1 January 2022 all hackney carriage and private hire vehicles must be fitted with at 
least a Euro 5 compliant engine (registered since September 2009 ) Euro 4  compliant 
engines or older will not be permitted. 

 From 1 January 2026 all hackney carriage and private hire vehicles must be fitted with at 
least a Euro 6 compliant engine (registered since September 2014 ) Euro 5  compliant 
engines or older will not be permitted. 
 
Applicants will be required to prove that the engine is suitable.  Any vehicles with an 
engine older than the required euro emissions standard will not be licensed at the time of 
renewal. 
 
 

7. Exception to Age Limits 
 

The Licensing Authority recognises that a policy cannot be absolute and will consider making an 

exemption to its policy upon the written request of an applicant. 

When considering whether to exempt a vehicle from this policy the Licensing Authority will consider 

the following: 
 

 If it is a “prestige” or “classic” vehicle intended to be booked by members of the public solely 
for its unique characteristics of which its age is significantly relevant. 

 If it has previously been licensed by the Council and failed any vehicle examinations. 

 If in the opinion of the Council approved testing station it is likely to remain in road worthy 
condition for the next 12 months. 

 If the vehicle is wheelchair accessible and a demand exists for such a vehicle. 

 If it would be unreasonable in all the circumstances to refuse to licence the vehicles. 
 

Should a vehicle fail a visual inspection a second inspection will be permitted. Any vehicle failing a 
second visual inspection will be deemed not to be of exceptionally well maintained condition.  

 
Vehicles exempted from the Council’s age policy will be licensed for a year. If it should fail any test or 

any other concerns are raised that make it reasonable in all the circumstances to doubt the 

suitability of the mechanical condition of the vehicle the licence will be revoked and no further 

application will be considered in respect of the vehicle. 

 

8. Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles 
 

This Council encourages proprietors and operators to provide vehicles which are fully wheelchair 

~ Page 23 ~



13 

 

 

accessible and able to take any form of wheelchair, including motorised wheelchairs. 
 

9. Suitability of Vehicle 
 

Before being licensed and during the period in which it is licensed, a council approved testing station 

must test a vehicle and be satisfied, on behalf of the Licensing Authority, that a vehicle is in suitable 

mechanical condition to be licensed. The vehicle will as a minimum be in such condition that it  

would pass an MOT. 
 

Where there are any doubts that a vehicle will remain in roadworthy condition for 12 months the 

testing station will fail the vehicle. 
 

The testing station must also examine the general safety of the vehicle and the comfort of it with a 

view to ascertaining if it is suitable for the safe transport of members of the public. 

We expect a vehicle to achieve a high standard of cleanliness inside and outside 
 

10. Vehicle Tests 
 

All vehicles whether currently licensed or applying to be licensed must be tested to the same 

standard at a Council approved vehicle testing station. The station will issue a Vehicle Inspection 

Report (VIR) which must be submitted to the Council within 7  days. 
 

The applicant or licence holder is responsible for the payment of all fees required for any mechanical 

inspections direct to the nominated testing station. 

Additional vehicle tests may also be required following an accident or mechanical breakdown or 

following enforcement or routine inspection where the Council has doubts about the fitness of the 

vehicle. 
 

An authorised Officer of the Council or a Police Constable has the power at all reasonable times to 

inspect and test, for the purpose of ascertaining the fitness, any Hackney Carriage or Private Hire 

Vehicle. This may be following routine inspections carried out by officers, following information 

received which gives reasonable cause to doubt the fitness of a vehicle or following risk assessed 

targeted enforcement action. 
 

11. Presentation of Vehicle for inspection 
 
The proprietor, on reasonable notice, must present the vehicle for inspection at any time and at any 
place required by the Council, provided that such requirements for inspection shall not exceed more 
than 3 occasions per year (Section 50 LGPA 1976) Failure to present a vehicle for inspection is an 
offence under the 1976 Act and will normally lead to the immediate suspension/revocation of a 
vehicle licence. 
 
The requirement to present for inspection is in addition to the powers of an authorised Licensing 
officer or Police Constable to test and inspect a hackney carriage as to its fitness at any reasonable 
time (Section 68 LGMPA 1976) 
 
 
12. Conditions 

~ Page 24 ~



14 

 

 

 

All vehicles licensed by the Council will be subject to conditions. Conditions attached to Private Hire 

vehicles can be found in Appendix 2 and those attached to Hackney Carriage vehicles are found in 

appendix 3. Additionally, local byelaws also affect Hackney Carriages and these can be found at 

appendix 4. 
 

13. Safety Equipment 
 

Conditions attached to a vehicle licence require the vehicle to carry the following at all times: 

 Fire Extinguisher 

 First Aid Kit to BS8599  

 Spare Wheel or Puncture repair kit. 
 

The Fire extinguisher and First Aid Kit must be stored within the vehicle and be easily accessible to 

the driver, or if the driver is incapacitated, by passengers or emergency services. The above must be 

in workable order and conform to the relevant standards outlined in the conditions attached to the 

vehicle. 
 

All drivers offering a service to transport members of the public have a duty to ensure the safety of 

that person within their vehicle. For that reason we will judge drivers and vehicles stringently on the 

suitability of their fire extinguisher and first aid equipment. The fire extinguisher and first aid kit 

must be marked with the vehicles plate number or registration number. 
 

14. Insurance 
 

A Hackney Carriage vehicle must be insured for public hire and reward and as a minimum 
requirement cover the driver for third party fire and theft and also to include legal liability for 
passengers and luggage. 

 
A Private Hire vehicle must be insured for private hire and reward and as a minimum requirement 
cover the driver for third party fire and theft and also to include legal liability for passengers and 
luggage. 

 

The Licensing Authority must be satisfied that the vehicle will remain insured for the 12 month 
duration of its licence. To this end the following insurance requirements apply. 

 
Upon the first application or renewal of a vehicle licence the applicant must: 

 

 Present an insurance certificate of at least six months or 

 A temporary insurance cover note to be followed by an insurance certificate lasting 12 
months prior to the cover notes expiry, Or; 

 Where the proprietor has an ongoing annual insurance certificate; that certificate. 
 

15. Roof Signs and Advertisements 
 

No advertisements will be permitted anywhere on a licensed vehicle.  

 Company Livery covering the whole of the vehicle will not be permitted i:e wrapped  

 Removable magnetic door signs will be permitted 
 

Roof signs are permitted without written permission for Private Hire and Hackney Carriage vehicles 

~ Page 25 ~



15 

 

 

provided they conform to the following: 
 

 Private Hire vehicles must display the words “advanced booking”. 

 Hackney Carriages are permitted to display the words “Taxi” or “for hire”. 
 A roof sign should, whether for Hackney Carriage or Private Hire vehicle, state the name and 

telephone number of the company operating it. 

No signs, notices, advertisement, plates, marks, numbers, letters, figures, symbols, emblems or 
devices whatsoever shall be displayed on, in, or from the vehicle without prior written approval of 
the Council. 

 
16. Taximeter 

 

All Hackney Carriage vehicles must be fitted with a taximeter installed by an authorised taximeter 

company and set to comply with the Oadby and Wigston Tariff. The taximeter is to be maintained in 

such way as may be specified by the Council. 

The current standards can be found at appendix 5. 
 

17. Security and CCTV 

 

Where CCTV is installed in a licenced vehicle, the following shall be followed 

 

This policy has been written for the purpose of regulating the use of CCTV systems in both Private 
Hire 

Vehicles and Hackney carriages in Oadby and Wigston Borough Council. 

 

This code of practice sets out to ensure that in-car systems in hackney carriages and private hire 
vehicles 

Licensed by Oadby and Wigston Borough Council are used to prevent crime, identify the 
perpetrators of crime and enhance the health and safety of drivers and reduce the fear of crime. 

 

The purpose of in-car systems 

 

The purpose of in-car systems shall be to provide a safer environment for the benefit of hire vehicle 
drivers and  

Passengers by: 

 Deterring and preventing the occurrence of crime 

 Reducing the fear of crime 

 Assisting the police in investigating incidents of crime 

 

 

Installation and operation of in-car systems in licence vehicles. 

 

The Installation and operation of CCTV must comply with the requirements of the 
http://ico.org.uk/media/for organisations/documents/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf 

 

~ Page 26 ~

http://ico.org.uk/media/for%20organisations/documents/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf


16 

 

 

All equipment must comply with any legislative requirements in respect of Motor Vehicle 
Construction and Use regulations. 

 

All equipment must meet all requirements as regards to safety, technical acceptability and 
operational/data intergrity. 

 

All equipment must be designed, constructed and installed in such a way and in such materials as to 
present no danger to passengers or driver, including impact with the equipment in event of a 
collision or danger from the electrical integrity being breached through vandalism, misuse or wear 
and tear. 

 

An approved installer shall carry out the installation in accordance with the manufacturer’s 
instructions. A 

Certificate of installation shall be provided to the Licensing Authority within 7 days of installation. 

 

All cameras shall be installed above the level of the dashboard within the hire vehicle. 

It is contrary to the Motor Vehicle (construction and use) regulations, 1986 for equipment to obscure 
the view of the road through the windscreen. 

 

Equipment must not obscure or interfere with the operation of any of the vehicle’s standard and/or 
mandatory equipment, ie not mounted on or adjacent to air bags/air curtains within proximity of 
other supplementary safety systems, such as autonomous braking systems, which may cause 
degradation in performance or functionality of such safety systems.  Viewing screens within the 
vehicle for the purposes of viewing captured images are not permitted. 

 

Any proprietor-owner wishing to install additional cameras or make changes to the installation shall 
obtain consent from the Licensing Enforcement Officer at Oadby and Wigston Borough Council prior 
to doing so. The location of a camera must be specific for purpose i.e to provide a safer environment 
for the benefit of the driver and passengers.  

 

Use of information recorded on in-car systems 

 

It is important that any person, who suspects that a crime has been committed and that an in-car 
camera system may contain relevant information to the crime, should report the suspected crime to 
the police as soon as practicable. 

 

Maintenance shall be carried out on the CCTV System and a certificate of maintenance shall be 
provided to the Licensing Authority at the time of the renewal of the vehicle licence. 

 

Data Protection Act (2018) and Codes of Practice 

 

Activation of in-car camera systems in Private Hire and Hackney Carriage Vehicles.  Continuous 
operation of CCTV is not permitted. 

 

Activation of equipment (camera) maybe via a number and combination of options including: 

 

~ Page 27 ~



17 

 

 

Door switches 

Time delay 

Drivers’ panic button 

Or in the case of an incident/event recorder, predetermined G Force 

Parameters set on one or more axis (i.e. braking , acceleration, lateral forces) 

 

The CCTV system may be configured to record images for a short period of time before the trigger 
event, during the related incident and a short period following the related incident. 

 

A direct wired link to the vehicle’s taximeter, in  the case of a Taxi, will not be acceptable. 

 

Audio Recording 

 

CCTV systems must not be used to record conversations between members of the public, as this is 
highly intrusive and unlikely to be justified except in very exceptional circumstances.  You must 
choose a system without this facility wherever possible; however, if the system comes equipped 
with sound recording facility then this functionality should be disabled. 

  

There are limited circumstances in which audio recording may be justified due to a specific threat to 
an individuals personal safety, eg when a panic button is utilised in response to a threat of physical 
violence. Where this audio recording is utilised a reset function must be installed which 
automatically disables audio recording and returns the system to normal default operation after a 
specified time period has elapsed.  The time period that audio recording may be active should be the 
minimum possible and should be declared at the time of submissions for approval of the equipment. 

 

In limited circumstance where audio recording is justified, signs must make it very clear that audio 
recording is being or maybe carried out.  

 

The owner/proprietor shall ensure that the storage and use of images complies with the 
requirement of the Data 

Protection legislation, General Data Protection Regulations and the Information Commissioners 
Codes of Practice at all times. 

 

 

Image security. 

 

Images captured must remain secure at all times 

 

The system must be capable of storing images in a manner, which prevents them being removed, 
downloaded or viewed by the driver or any other person travelling in the vehicle. 

 

The system must provide that images are only capable of being downloaded by a system 
administrator. 

 

The captured images must be protected using approved encryption software that is designed to 

~ Page 28 ~



18 

 

 

guard against the compromise of the stored data, for example, in the event of the vehicle or 
equipment being stolen.  All SD cards must be encrypted to the camera device.  All images may only 
be reviewed via a secure network,  i.e Images should not be available to view via an MP3/MP4 player 
or equivalent. 

 

The Information Commissioner’s Office has published guidance on how to keep personal data secure 
(including personal data contained in CCTV images) on their website. 

 

Retention of CCTV images 

 

The CCTV equipment selected for installation must have the capability of retaining images either: 

 

 Within its own secure, encrypted hard drive 

 Using a fully secured and appropriately encrypted detachable mass storage device, for 
example a compact flash solid state card. 

 Or where a service provider is providing storage facilities, transferred in real time using fully 
secured and appropriately encrypted GPRS (GSM telephone) signalling to  a secure server 
within the service provider’s monitoring centre. 

Images must not be downloaded onto any kind of portable media device (e.g CDs or memory sticks) 
for the purpose of general storage outside the vehicle. 

 

CCTV Equipment selected for installation must include an automatic overwriting function so that 
images are only retained within the installed system storage device for a maximum period of 28 days 
from the date of capture.  Where a service provider is used to store images on a secure server the 
specified retention period must also only be for a maximum of 28days from the day of capture. Data 
maybe retained for longer periods in exceptional circumstances.  i.e insurance claims, criminal 
investigations etc. However, once a relevant case is concluded all data must be deleted. 

 

Where applicable these provisions shall also apply to audio recordings. 

 

Payment of the data protection fee to the Information Commissioner’s Office - the Information 
Commissioner’s Office (ICO) is the official regulatory body responsible for enforcing compliance with 
privacy and data protection legislation. 

 

The law defines a “data controller” as the individual or organisation that has ultimate responsibility 
for how personal data is collected and processed.  For the purpose of the installation and operation 
of in-vehicle CCTV, the “data controller” is the company, organisation or individual that has decided 
to have a CCTV system installed and operating with the vehicle.  The data controller is ultimately 
responsible for how the images are stored and used and determines in what circumstances the 
images should be disclosed. 

 

It is a legal requirement for organisations and businesses that process personal information to pay a 
data protection fee to the ICO every year and it is a criminal offence if you do not adhere to this.  The 
ICO publishes an online register of the organisations and businesses that have paid the fee. 

 

You can find out more about the process by reading the ICO guide to the date protection fee,  the 
level of fee you have to pay varies according to the turnover of your business and the number of 

~ Page 29 ~



19 

 

 

employees you have. 

 

Documentary evidence such as a certificate of  registration with ICO that the date protection fee has 
been paid must be presented to the licensing team. 

 

Using a third Party service provider (data processor) 

 

Where a service provider is used for the remote storage and/or management of CCTV data any 
person (other than an employee of the data controller) who processes data on behalf of the data 
controller, in response to specific instructions, is a data processor.  The data controller retains full 
responsibility for the actions of the data processor. 

 

There must be a formal written contract between the data controller and data processor (Service 
provider) The contract must contain provisions covering security arrangements, retention/deletion 
instructions, access requests and termination arrangements. 

 

Documentary evidence of the contractual arrangements may be required to be presented to the 
Licensing Authority at any time during the term of the vehicle licence. 

 

Using recorded CCTV Images. 

 

The data controller is responsible for complying with all relevant data protection legislation, as well 
as being legally responsible for the use of all images including any breaches of privacy and data 
protection legislation. 

 

Any images and/or audio recordings should only be used for the purposes described earlier in these 
guidelines. 

 

Requests to view captured images maybe submitted to the data controller by the Police or other 
statutory law enforcement agencies. Oadby and Wigston Borough Council Borough Council, 
insurance companies, brokers/loss adjusters: or exceptionally other appropriate bodies.  The data 
controller is responsible for responding to these requests in accordance with the law.  Police or other 
law enforcement agencies should produce a standard template request form, setting out the 
reasons why the disclosure is required.  Alternatively, a signed statement may be accepted. 

 

All requests should only be accepted where they are in writing and specify the reasons why 
disclosure is required. 

 

Under the data protection legislation, members of the public may also make a request for the 
disclosure of images, but only when they have been a subject of a recording.  This is known as a 
“subject access request”.  Such requests must only be accepted where they are in writing and 
include sufficient proof of identity(which may include a photograph to confirm they are in fact the 
person in the recording) Data Controllers are no longer entitled to charge a fee for a subject access 
request and must process the request for free. 

 

More guidance on handling Subject Access requests can be found in the ICO’s code of practice 
https//ico.org.uk/media/2259722/subject-access-code-of-practice.pdf which is available on their 

~ Page 30 ~



20 

 

 

website. 

 

Signage for external facing CCTV Systems. 

 

Where a CCTV system is installed in order to record incidents outside the vehicle (e.g a dashcam or 
similar) you should also display a warning sign wherever practical.  In addition, when CCTV is 
activated in response to an incident, the driver of the vehicle must inform the persons(s) recorded 
that their personal data was captured – as soon as practicable after the incident. They should also be 
informed of the purpose for which the device has been installed, for example to facilitate their 
insurance company’s investigation and insurance claims 

 

Any duly authorised Officer of Oadby and Wigston Borough Councils Licensing team can at any 
reasonable time and on the production of a warrant card, if requested, examine any in-car camera 
installation for the purpose of monitoring compliance with the law. 

 

In the event of any potential breach being identified, the relevant authority will be informed. 

 

Failure to comply with this code of practice may result in the suspension or revocation of a hackney 
carriage or private hire vehicle licence. 

 

18. Table of Fares 
 

Oadby and Wigston Borough Council have the legislative power to fix the fares that Hackney 

Carriages can charge within the district. 

If a Hackney Carriage is used under a contract for Private Hire, the driver cannot charge more than 

the fixed rate in the authorised fare table. As a result the driver must have the meter running at the 

correct tariff whenever they have passengers in the vehicle. The produced tariffs are for maximum 

fares and drivers have the discretion to charge less than the displayed price. The latest table of fares 

can be found at appendix 6. 
 

Fares set for Hackney Carriages will be subject to regular review. In order for this review to be 

carried out, comparison will be made with fares charged in neighbouring authorities and the 

relevant retail price index rates will be taken into consideration. 

19. Dual Plating 
 

A vehicle will not be licensed by the Council if it is already licensed as either a Hackney Carriage or 

Private Hire vehicle by another authority. If a vehicle is found to be also licensed by another  

licensing authority the Council will either not grant a licence to it or revoke any licence issued to the 

vehicle. 
 

Vehicles can only be licensed as either Hackney Carriages or Private Hire vehicles – both types of 

licence cannot be in force simultaneously. 
 

20. Transfers 
 

The Licensing Authority will not permit the proprietor of a licensed Hackney Carriage vehicle to 

~ Page 31 ~



21 

 

 

transfer that vehicle licence into a Private Hire vehicle, nor permit the proprietor of a Private Hire 

vehicle to transfer that licence into a Hackney Carriage. 

Should a vehicle proprietor decide to change the type of licence a vehicle holds, they must surrender 

their existing licence and apply for a new licence. 
 

The Licensing Authority will permit an applicant to transfer his vehicle licence to another individual 

where the vehicle has been sold to that individual. The new owner is required to prove that he owns 

the vehicle and has appropriate insurance for it as well as being a licensed driver. 

~ Page 32 ~



22 

 

 

21. Executive Vehicle Licence Plates 
 

The proprietor of a Private Hire Vehicle may apply to the Licensing Authority for an exemption from 
displaying the standard private hire plate. 

 
The Licensing Authority has a duty of care to ensure that all customers travelling in Private Hire 
vehicles, whether residents or professional clients are safe at all times. We acknowledge that certain 
customers require the use of Private Hire Vehicles but for either personal or professional reasons do 
not wish to appear to be in a licensed vehicle. 

 

The use of executive style licence plates will only be considered for specialist Private Hire use. This 
does not include airport services, regular school contracts and normal Private Hire work. 

 
Proprietors who wish to have their vehicle exempt from displaying the normal type of licensed plate 
must apply to the Council. 

 
Decisions will be made in line with the policy on executive vehicle exemptions (appendix 7). 

 

22. Hire Vehicles 
 

Where a company has provided a driver with a replacement vehicle the hire company must inform 

the Council which licensed driver has been allocated that vehicle and for what approximate 

timescale the driver will be using it. Once the hire vehicle is no longer required the licence and plates 

should be returned to the Council and surrendered. 
 

A hire vehicle is subject to the same procedures and regulations as any other vehicle licensed by the 

Council. 
 

23. Demand for Hackney Carriage 
 

The Council are able to consider restricting the number of Hackney Carriages it licences based upon 

demand for them in its area. At the present time we do not feel it is necessary to restrict the number 

of Hackney Carriages. 
 

24. Renewal of Licenses 
 

It is the proprietor’s responsibility to ensure that licences are renewed prior to the expiry of the 

current licence. There is no statutory duty for the Council to remind licence holders of the expiry 

date of their vehicle. 

Any applications submitted after the expiry of a licence will be treated as a new application. 
 

25. Rights of Appeal 
 

Where an application is refused or a licence is suspended or revoked the licence holder will be issued 

with full reasons in writing. 

Any applicant aggrieved by the Council’s decision to suspend, revoke or refuse a vehicle licence or 

the conditions attached to a licence may appeal to the Magistrates Court within 21 days of being 

notified in writing of the decision. 

~ Page 33 ~



23 

 

 

26. Application Requirements 
 

To apply for vehicle licence an applicant must submit the following:- 
 

a) Completed application form (available from the Licensing Section) 
b) Vehicle Inspection Report (VIR) (issued by the approved testing station) 

c) Vehicle Registration Document (V5c). 

d) Valid insurance document. 

e) Taxi metre calibration certificate (if a Hackney Carriage) 
 
 

A licence will be granted for 12 months and subject to conditions as well as the provisions of Part II 

of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and the Town Police Clauses Act 1847. 

An application for a licence (including renewals) must be submitted 5 working days before the 

licence is required. The Licensing Authority cannot guarantee that a licence and a plate will be issued 

in less time than this. 

~ Page 34 ~



24 

 

 

 
 

1. Introduction 
 

The Council will issue combined Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Driver Licences. 
 

Drivers licensed by the Council will therefore be permitted to drive either a Hackney Carriage or 

Private Hire Vehicle licensed within the Borough. Licences will be issued for the duration of three 

years. Holders of existing licences will need to renew their licence every three years. 
 

The Council have adopted the Institute of Licensing’s “Guidance on determining the suitability of 

applicants and licensees in the hackney and private hire trades” as a means of standardising the 

approach to the grant of licenses across the country to ensure consistency and transparency in 

decision-making. 
 

2. Applying for a Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle Drivers Licence 
 

All applications (including renewals), must be made at least six weeks before the licence is required. 

It is the responsibility of the applicant or existing licence holder to ensure that applications are made 

within this time. The process required to be gone through may take longer than this but the 

Licensing Authority will endeavour to determine an application within this time period. 
 

In order to apply for a drivers licence with Oadby and Wigston Borough Council an applicant must: 
 

 Have held a full British drivers licence for at least 12 months or 
 A European Community driving licence for at least 12 months, accompanied by a UK 

counterpart document. 
 

The Council will not process any application where the above cannot be produced. 
 

3. Application Process 
 

All new applicants will need to undertake the competency test before submitting a full application. This 

carries a fee of £43.00. By carrying out the test first, this will prevent an applicant from submitting 

documents or making additional payments that are not required if the competency test was to be failed. 

A Competency test can be booked either by following https://www.oadby-

wigston.gov.uk/pages/hackney_carriage_drivers_licence or by telephoning our Customer Service 

Centre on 0116 2888961 

On successfully completing the Competency test, you will be eligible to attend our Customer 

Services Centre 40 Bell Street, Wigston, Leicester and complete a full application the 

documentation required for this process is listed below and are require to be present when 

making an application. 

 Application fee 

 DBS form (Criminal Record Check) 

 DVLA mandate form 

16.0 Combined Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicle 

Driver Licences 

~ Page 35 ~

https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/pages/hackney_carriage_drivers_licence
https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/pages/hackney_carriage_drivers_licence


25 

 

 

 Medical certificate signed by own GP 

 Blue Lamp Trust Driving proficiency pass certificate 

 Driving licence 

 Child Sexual Exploitation training 

 Proof of Identification – original documentation only – no photo copies or scanned images 
 

Incomplete forms will be returned to the applicant as invalid. All forms must be completed and 

signed by the applicant. 

 

4. Conditions 
 

Driver licences issued by the Council have strict conditions imposed upon them. A copy of the 

conditions can be found at Appendix 8. 
 

 5. “Fit and Proper Person” 
 

Sections 51 and 59 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 states that “a 

district council shall not grant a driver’s licence to drive a Private Hire vehicle or Hackney Carriage 

unless they are satisfied that an applicant is a fit and proper person.” 
 

The documents and information required by the application process enable us to make a decision on 

whether an applicant is “fit and proper”. These procedures are explained below. 
 

6. Disclosure and Barring Service Check 
 

Under Section 47 of the Road Traffic Act 1991 the Council will seek information from the Disclosure 

and Barring Service (DBS) regarding the disclosure of an applicant’s criminal record. 

In order to carry out this check the Council is obliged to verify the identity of all applicants and 

require a number of ORIGINAL documents to be submitted. One of these documents must be an up 

to date and valid driving licence issued by the DVLA. 
 

The Licensing Authority also requires the production of a number of other documents to verify the 

applicant’s identity. These requirements are set by the DBS and an updated copy will be available to 

applicants. Information received from the DBS will be kept in strict confidence whilst the licensing 

process takes its course and will be retained for no longer than necessary. 
 

7. Continuous Residency in the UK for 5 Years 
 

An applicant must provide us and the DBS with a 5 year address history of residency in the UK. If this 

cannot be provided due to the applicant having lived abroad a certificate of good conduct 

authenticated by the relevant embassy must be produced. 
 

8. Right to Work in the UK 
 

An applicant must have the right to work in the UK. In some circumstances it may be necessary for 

the Council to contact the Home Office to confirm an applicant’s right to work in the UK. A form of 

authority will be required to be signed by the applicant. 

~ Page 36 ~



26 

 

 

9. Medical Certificate 
 

Upon first application the Licensing Authority requires an application to provide a Group 2 medical 

certificate stating that they are physically and mentally able to drive. The Certificate must be signed 

by a medical practitioner who has access to the applicant’s medical records and in a form acceptable 

to the Council. 
 

A further medical certificate will be required on every second renewal of their licence since the 

Medical certificate was last produced (every 6 years). After the age of 70 a driver will be required to 

produce a medical certificate each and every year. 

 

Drivers are required to notify the Council of any medical condition which may affect their ability to 

drive as soon as it occurs. 
 

10. Competency Test 
 

First time applicants for Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Vehicle Drivers licence are required to take a 

competency test. 
 

An applicant will be allowed 3 attempts to pass the competency test within 3 months of the 

application being made. The fee for the first competency test must be paid at the time of the initial 

application. If further tests are required a subsequent fee must be paid before each test. 

The purpose of the competency test is to ensure that drivers of Hackney Carriages or Private Hire 

vehicles within the Borough can show us that they are able to transport passengers safely and 

without delay to their requested destinations and offer satisfactory level of customer service. A 

licensed driver is in a position of responsibility and must show us that they understand the local 

area, the needs of customers of the Borough and the law and policies applicable to licensed drivers, 

operators and vehicles. 
 

Should the applicant fail the test on all 3 occasions or fail to pass within 3 months the application for 

the licence will be refused. 

An application will not normally then be entertained from a failed applicant for a period of 12 

months from date of their third and final failed application. The licensing authority may consider 

accepting a new application within a period of less than 12 months upon the written request of an 

applicant if they satisfy the authority that there are exceptional circumstances to justify the 

departure from this policy. 
 

The reason for the limit of 3 tests within 3 months and 12 month limitation on applying following a 

refusal is to avoid wasting an applicant’s time and money where it appears they are unable to satisfy 

us they are a fit and proper person. 
 

11. How We Assess Criminal Convictions 
 

Applicants are required to declare any convictions or cautions that they have received. The failure to 

inform the Council of any conviction or caution that the applicant has received may be viewed as 

deliberate dishonesty and affect our decision on whether we consider them to be a fit and proper 

person. 

~ Page 37 ~



27 

 

 

 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire vehicle licensed drivers are included in the ‘Order of Regulated 

Occupations’ in the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974. This means that a criminal conviction is 

never considered “spent” under the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 in relation to licensed 

drivers or applications to be licensed as a driver. 

In the case of any new applicant who has been charged with any offence and is awaiting trial, the 
determination will be deferred until the trial has been completed or the charges withdrawn. 

 

The onus is on Oadby and Wigston Borough Council to decide upon the relevance of any convictions. 

Each case will be decided on its own merits and considered against the adopted ‘Institute of 

Licensing’s Guidance on Determining the Suitability of Applicants and Licensees in the Hackney and 

Private Hire Trade’s’ (“the Guidance”). The Council has a discretion, depending on the nature of the 

previous conviction(s), to depart from the Guidance where it considers it appropriate to do so. 

 

An applicant’s criminal record will assist the Council in determining if a person is “fit and proper” 

person. The presence of criminal convictions or cautions will not automatically result in the refusal of 

an application. 
 

Convictions, cautions or other matters which affect the suitability of an applicant to be a licensed 

driver will be referred to the Council’s Head of Law and Democracy for determination. 
 

Appendix 10 gives further details about this. 
 

 12. “Totting Up” Procedure – DVLA Driving Licence 
 

Certain driving offences are punished by the imposition of penalty points on the driving licence 

issued by the DVLA. Once a person has reached 12 points within a 3 year period they are likely to be 

disqualified from driving by the Courts. 
 

The accumulation of 12 points in 3 years will lead to a review of a drivers licence by the Head of Law 

and Governance with the presumption that the licence will be revoked. The driver will be given 

notice of 14 days in which to submit a written explanation as to why they remain “fit and proper” to 

hold a licence. 

13. Drivers Convicted Whilst Licensed 
 

The standard of “fit and proper” is a continuing one and the Licensing Authority will revoke a licence 

where it is satisfied that a driver is not a “fit a proper person” to continue to be licensed by us. 
 

A licence holder is required to notify the Council in writing of any conviction or caution within seven 

days of the conviction or caution date. Fixed penalty notices, should be notified to the Council within 

7 days of when the notice is accepted. 

14. Investigating Convictions 
 

We will carry out further investigation into conviction. This may be by asking the applicant or 

licensed driver to attend our office for a formal interview to explain the convictions, submit a written 

explanation or submit character references by two people who know him or her or a combination of 

~ Page 38 ~



28 

 

 

all three. 
 

A licence may be suspended pending the outcome of any investigation or trial where an existing 

driver is found to be awaiting trial or has been charged with a serious crime relating to; 
 

 Driving or being in charge of a vehicle whilst under the influence of drink or drugs 

 A drug related offence 

 Indecent exposure, indecent assault, importuning, or any of the more serious sexual 
offences or, 

 Grievous bodily harm, wounding or assault or, 

 Dishonesty 
 

15. Warnings, Cautions and Suspensions and Revocations of Licences 
 

A licence may be suspended or revoked where information received raises doubts as to the fitness of 

a driver, regardless of whether criminal charges are brought. 

Complaints in relation to existing drivers will generally be held on file and taken into consideration 

for a period of three years from receipt. However the seriousness of a complaint or further related 

issues occurring may require this period to be extended in the interests of public safety. 
 

Where a driver has committed a criminal offence the Council may issue a driver with a formal 

caution as an alternative to prosecution where it feels that such action is necessary and 

proportionate. However, for all criminal offences the Council has discretion as to when it feels it is in 

the public interest to prosecute. 
 

Written warnings may be issued in relation to specific offences and kept on file for at least three 

years depending upon the type and relevance of the offence. 

Penalty points may also be awarded in line with the Councils penalty points’ scheme. 
 

If a licence is revoked a period of 3 to 5 years should generally elapse before a further application is 

likely to be favourably considered. 

Where refusal, suspension or revocation of an application or licence is considered, the applicant or 

licensed driver will be given an opportunity to state their case in relation to the issue(s) of concern. 

This may be either attending a meeting with a Licensing Officer to discuss the concerns or submit 

evidence in writing. The matter will be determined by the Head of Corporate Resources. 
 

16. Renewal of Licence 
 

It is the driver’s responsibility to ensure that their licence is renewed prior to the expiry of their 

current licence. Any licence that has expired prior to the submission of a valid renewal application 

will not be renewed and a new application will need to be submitted. This may result in the Blue 

Lamp Trust advanced Taxi driving test being taken and the Council’s competency test. 
 

17. Right of Appeal 
 

Any person who is aggrieved by the Council’s refusal to grant, suspend or revoke a driver’s licence 

may appeal to a Magistrates court within 21 days of being notified in writing of the decision. 

~ Page 39 ~



29 

 

 

In line with Section 61(2B) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, as 

amended by Section 52 of the Road Safety Act 2006, where it appears to the Council that it is in the 

interests of public safety for any revocation to have immediate effect there will be no right to drive 

as a Private Hire or Hackney Carriage driver pending an appeal. 
 

This power will generally only be invoked where there are allegations of serious violent offences, 

offences of a sexual nature or for any other reason where the Council considers there to be a serious 

risk to passengers or members of the public in allowing the driver to continue as a Private Hire 

driver. 
 

The right to appeal will be explained in writing when the applicant or driver is notified of the 

Council’s decision. 

~ Page 40 ~



30 

 

 

 
 

 1. The Need for an Operator’s Licence 
 

Anyone who accepts or invites bookings for Private Hire Vehicles must obtain a Private Hire 

Operators licence from the Council and only vehicles and drivers that are licensed by that same 

Council can be used. 
 

 2. “Fit and Proper” Person 
 

The Council will not grant a Private Hire operator’s licence unless it is satisfied that the applicant is a 

“fit and proper” person, that the licence conditions will be adhered to and that the address where 

the operation is based is suitable for such an activity. 

Any applicant, joint applicant, business partner, associate, or director (if the applicant is a company) 

who is not also a licensed driver will be required to apply for a basic DBS check through the Council. 

 

The onus is on Oadby and Wigston Borough Council to decide upon the relevance of any convictions. 

Each case will be decided on its own merits and considered against the adopted ‘Institute of 

Licensing’s Guidance on Determining the Suitability of Applicants and Licensees in the Hackney and 

Private Hire Trade’s’ (“the Guidance”). The Council has a discretion, depending on the nature of the 

previous conviction(s), to depart from the Guidance where it considers it appropriate to do so. 

We will also require any of the above who intend to actively participate in the operational side of the 

business to take a specific Competency Test designed for Operators. The cost of the test will need to 

be paid for by the applicant(s) and they have will have 3 chances to pass this test within 3 months. 
 

3. Application Requirements 
 

The applicant must complete the application form supplied by the Council. Any person who is not 

also a driver currently licensed by the Council is required to complete an enchanced DBS application 

form. 

Applications should be made at least six weeks before the licence is required (including renewals) 

otherwise it may not be granted by any preferred date of issue or renewal date. It is the 

responsibility of the applicant or the existing licence holder to ensure that applications are made in 

good time. 
 

If a renewal application is not made six weeks in advance a renewed licence may not be granted by 

the time the old licence expires. If this happens the operator will not legally be able to operate in the 

interim period. 
 

4. Trading Names 
 

Only trading or business names authorised by the Council can be used. This is the name that the 

licence will be issued to. This requirement relates to any names used on promotional material, 

advertisements, website or any other form of document. This is to ensure that public safety is not 

17.0 Private Hire Operators 

~ Page 41 ~



31 

 

 

compromised by making it unclear to members of the public as to who they are entering into a 

contract with. 
 

5. Premises and Vehicle Numbers 
 

In order to ensure that accurate regulation and realistic enforcement is undertaken by the Council, a 

licence shall not be granted to any applicant whose operating centre or intended operating centre is 

outside of the Borough unless that applicant is either renewing a licence which was previously 

granted by the Council at a time when their operating centre was located outside the district or they 

can demonstrate a legitimate intention to operate a service to members of public living in the 

Borough. 

Any applicant or licence holder intending to allow members of the public to attend their premises to 

book vehicles must provide current and valid public liability insurance certificates to the Council. 
 

Operators must also disclose how many vehicles he intends to operate at any one time. This number 

will be a condition on his licence. The ability of the applicant to manage the number of vehicles 

specified will also be of consideration as to whether the applicant is “fit and proper”. 

6. Planning Permission 
 

It is the responsibility of the applicant or licence holder to ensure that they have the appropriate 

planning permission for their intended place of business. The grant of an operator licence will not 

prevent the need for planning consent and approval where required. If appropriate planning 

permission is not in place a licence may still be granted but a licence holder trading in breach of 

planning law is likely not to be considered a “fit and proper” and run the risk of a licence not being 

granted or being revoked. 
 

7. Conditions 
 

Conditions apply to all operator licences issued by the Council. These conditions can be found at 

appendix 9. 
 

8. Renewal of Licences 
 

It is the licensee’s responsibility to ensure that their licence is renewed prior to its expiry. Any licence 

that has expired prior to the submission of a valid renewal application will not be renewed and a 

new application will need to be submitted. The operator must not continue to operate until such 

time as the new licence is granted. 
 

Where an application to renew a licence has not been made and the operator continues to operate 

private hire vehicles illegally the Council will prosecute and is unlikely to grant another licence to 

that operator. 
 

9. Amendments to Licences 
 

An operator requiring any amendment to their licence must complete a relevant application form 

and pay the appropriate fee. An amendment may be necessary to increase the number of vehicles 

operated, change a trading name, include an additional licensee or add to or change the operator’s 

~ Page 42 ~



32 

 

 

booking office. 
 

10. Right of Appeal 
 

Any applicant who is aggrieved by the Council’s decision to refuse to grant, renew or to revoke an 

operator’s licence or to apply conditions to the licence may appeal to a Magistrates court within 21 

days of being notified in writing of the decision. 

~ Page 43 ~



 

 

 
 

There are a number of offences which can be committed by drivers, operators or proprietors of 

licensed vehicles. Any of the offences committed by any person listed within this appendix may 

result in their prosecution by the Council. It should be noted that laws change and this list is solely 

for the information of the licensed trade and does not cover every possible infringement that may 

be committed. 
 

In relation to the maximum penalties specified, the levels of fine are currently as follows: 
 

Level 1 - £200 

Level 2 - £500 

Level 3 - £1,000 

Level 4 - £2,500 

 

OFFENCES IN RESPECT OF HACKNEY CARRIAGES (HC) 
 

Town Police Clauses Act 1847 
 

Section Offence Maximum Penalty 

40 Giving false information on application for HC 

Licence 

Level 1 

44 Failure to notify change of address of HC 

proprietor 

Level 1 

45 Plying for hire without HC Proprietors licence Level 4 

47 Driving a HC without a HC drivers licence Level 3 

47 Lending or parting with HC driver’s licence Level 3 

47 HC proprietor employing unlicensed driver Level 3 

48 Failure by HC proprietor to hold HC driver’s 

licence 

Level 1 

48 Failure by HC proprietor to produce HC driver’s 

licence 

Level 1 

52 Failure to display HC plate Level 1 

53 Refusal to take a fare Level 2 

54 Charging more than the agreed fare Level 1 

55 Obtaining more than the legal fare Level 3 and 1 month 

imprisonment 

Appendix 1: Table of Offences 

~ Page 44 ~



25 

 

 

56 Travelling less than the lawful distance for an 

agreed fare 

Level 1 

57 Failing to wait after a deposit to wait has been 

paid 

Level 1 

58 Charging more than the legal fare Level 3 

59 Carrying other person than the hirer without 

consent. 

Level 1 

60 Driving HC without Proprietor’s consent Level 1 

60 Allowing another to drive HC without proprietor’s 

consent. 

Level 1 

61 Drunken driving of HC Level 1 

61 Wanton or furious driving leading to injury or 

danger 

Level 1 

62 Driver leaving HC unattended. Level 1 

64 HC driver obstructing other HC’s. Level 1 

 
 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
 

Section Offence Maximum 

Penalty 

49 Failure to notify the transfer of a HC proprietor’s licence Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

50(1) Failure to present a HC for inspection, as required Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

50(2) Failure to inform the Authority where the HC is stored, if 

requested. 

Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

50(3) Failure to report an accident to the Authority Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

50(4) Failure to produce the HC Proprietor’s licence and 

insurance certificate 

Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

53(3) Failure to produce the HC driver’s licence Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

57 Making a false statement or withholding information to 

obtain a HC driver’s licence 

Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

~ Page 45 ~



26 

 

 

58(2) Failure to return a plate after notice given following 

expiry, revocation or suspension of a HC proprietor’s 

licence. 

Level 3 + fine 

of £10/day 

61(2) Failure to surrender a driver’s licence after suspension, 

revocation or refusal to renew. 

Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

64 Permitting any vehicle other than a HC to wait on a HC 

stand. 

Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

66 Charging more than the meter fare for a journey ending 

outside the district, without prior agreement. 

Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

67 Charging more than the meter fare when HC used as 

Private Hire vehicle 

Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

69 Unnecessarily prolonging a journey. Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

71 Interfering with a taximeter. Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

73(1)(a) Obstruction of an Officer or Constable Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

73(1)(b) Failure to comply with a requirement of an authorised 

officer or constable. 

Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

73(1)(c) Failure to give information or assistance to an authorised 

officer or constable. 

Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

 
 

OFFENCES IN RESPECT OF PRIVATE HIRE (PH) 
 

Section Offence Maximum 

Penalty 

46(1)(a) Using an unlicensed PH Vehicle Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

46(1)(b) Driving a PH vehicle without a PH driver’s licence Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

46(1)(c) Proprietor of a PH vehicle using an unlicensed driver. Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

46(1)(d) Operating a PH vehicle without a PH operator’s licence. Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

~ Page 46 ~



27 

 

 

46(1)(e) Operating a vehicle as a PH vehicle when the vehicle is 

not licensed as a PH vehicle. 

Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

46(1)(e) Operating a vehicle as a PH vehicle when the driver is not 

licensed as a PH driver. 

Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

48(6) Failure to display a PH vehicle plate. Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

49 Failure to notify transfer of a PH vehicle licence. Level 3 

50(1) Failure to present a PH vehicle for inspection, as required Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

50(2) Failure to inform the Authority where the PH vehicle is 

stored, if requested. 

Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

50(3) Failure to report an accident to the Authority Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

50(4) Failure to produce the PH vehicle licence and an insurance 

certificate 

Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

53(3) Failure to produce a PH driver’s licence Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

54(2) Failure to wear a PH driver’s badge. Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

56(2) Failure by a PH operator to keep records of bookings. Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

56(3) Failure by a PH operator to keep records of PH vehicles 

operated by him. 

Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

56(4) Failure to produce a PH operator’s licence on request. Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

57 Making a false statement or withholding information to 

obtain a PH driver or operator licence. 

Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

58(2) Failure to return a plate after notice given following 

expiry, revocation or suspension of a PH vehicle licence. 

Level 3 + fine 

of £10/day 

61(2) Failure to surrender a driver’s licence after suspension, 

revocation or refusal to renew. 

Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

67 Charging more than the meter fare when HC used as 

Private Hire vehicle 

Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

69 Unnecessarily prolonging a journey. Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

71 Interfering with a taximeter. Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

~ Page 47 ~



28 

 

 

73(1)(a) Obstruction of an Officer or Constable Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

73(1)(b) Failure to comply with a requirement of an authorised 

officer or constable. 

Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

73(1)(c) Failure to give information or assistance to an authorised 

officer or constable. 

Level 3 (by 

virtue of s76) 

 
 

Transport Act 1980 
 

Section Offence Maximum 

Penalty 

64(2)(a) Driving a PH vehicle with a roof sign, which contravenes 

s64 (1). 

Level 3 

64(2)(a) Causing or permitting a PH vehicle to be driven with a 

roof sign which contravenes s64 (1). 

Level 3 

~ Page 48 ~



29 

 

 

 
 

The following conditions will be attached to all Private Hire vehicles licensed by Oadby and Wigston 

Borough Council: 

1. This licence is not transferable to any other vehicle and applies only to the vehicle specified 

in this licence. 

 
2. The external licence plate supplied with this licence and bearing the licence number and the 

vehicle registration number shall be fixed to the rear of the vehicle in a prominent position 

where it is clearly viewable to members of the public or in such a position and manner as 

may be further specified by Oadby and Wigston Borough Council. 

 
3. The internal licence plate supplied with the licence and bearing this licence number and the 

vehicle registration number shall be displayed on the inside of the windscreen of the vehicle 

where it is clearly viewable to members of the public and passengers or in such a position 

and manner as may be further specified by Oadby and Wigston Borough Council. 

 
4. If either licence plate is lost, damaged or defaced the licensee shall be responsible for 

notifying the Council immediately and for the cost of its replacement. 

 
5. The proprietor of the vehicle will not permit any person to drive the vehicle unless that 

person holds a valid Hackney Carriage/Private Hire vehicle driver’s licence issued by the 

Council except for when a person drives the vehicle for the purpose of conducting a vehicle 

inspection report/MOT/other mechanical check. 

 
6. The proprietor of the vehicle must notify the Council of any change in his or her address or 

of any change in ownership of the vehicle within 7 days of such change occurring. 

 
7. The occurrence of any accident involving the vehicle which materially affects the safety, 

performance or appearance of the vehicle must be reported to the Council within 72 hours. 

 
8. The vehicle and all its fittings and equipment shall at all times when the vehicle is in use or 

available for hire be kept in an efficient, safe and tidy and clean condition and all relevant 

statutory requirements shall be fully complied with. 

 
9. The proprietor of the vehicle will ensure that driver will carry a guide dog or other assistance 

dog as defined in the Equality Act 2010 upon the request of a hirer unless the driver of the 

vehicle at the time of the request holds a certificate exempting him from this duty. 

 
10. Any animal, other than one to which the Equality Act 2010 applies may be carried by this 

vehicle at the discretion of the driver in such a place as may be specified by the driver. 

 
11. One roof sign stating the name of this vehicles licensed private hire operator and its 

telephone number and the wording “advance bookings only” is permitted. The Council 

Appendix 2: Conditions Applicable to Private Hire Vehicles 

~ Page 49 ~



30 

 

 

reserve the right to request the removal of this roof sign. No other signs, notices, 

advertisements, plates, marks, numbers, letters, figures, symbols, emblems, or devices 

whatsoever shall be displayed on, in or from the vehicle without written approval of the 

Council. 

 
12. There shall be provided and maintained in the vehicle at all times when in use and available 

for hire a suitable and efficient fire extinguisher which conforms to the current British 

Standard (BS5423) (minimum capacity 1 litre). Such fire extinguisher will be kept within the 

vehicle in a place where it is easily accessible and be clearly marked with the vehicles licence 

plate number and/or registration number. 

 
13. A first aid kit to British Standards 8599 will be kept and maintained within the vehicle and 

will clearly bear the vehicle licence number and/or registration number. 

 
14. Where the holder of this licence allows another person to use the licensed vehicle the 

licence holder must inform the Council of the name, address and the Hackney 

Carriage/Private Hire vehicle driver licence number of that other person and the period of 

time that person will be using the vehicle. 

 
15. This licence will expire 12 months after the date of issue. The expiry date is specified on this 

licence and the external and internal plates supplied with it. 

 
16. This vehicle licence is subject to the licensed vehicle passing a vehicle test six months from 

the issue date of this licence unless exempted from this requirement by the Council due to it 

being aged two years or less from the date of its manufacture. 

 
17. Application for renewal of this licence should be made to The Licensing Section, Council 

Offices, Station Road, Wigston, Leicestershire, LE18 2DR. 

~ Page 50 ~



31 

 

 

 

The following conditions will be attached to all Hackney Carriage vehicles licensed by Oadby and 

Wigston Borough Council: 

1. This licence is not transferable to any other vehicle and applies only to the vehicle 

specified in this licence. 

 
2. The external licence plate supplied with this licence and bearing the licence number and 

the vehicle registration number shall be fixed to the rear of the vehicle in a prominent 

position where it is clearly viewable to members of the public or in such a position and 

manner as may be further specified by Oadby and Wigston Borough Council. 

 
3. The internal licence plate supplied with the licence and bearing this licence number and 

the vehicle registration number shall be displayed on the inside of the windscreen of the 

vehicle where it is clearly viewable to members of the public and passengers or in such a 

position and manner as may be further specified by Oadby and Wigston Borough 

Council. 

 
4. If either licence plate is lost, damaged or defaced the licensee shall be responsible for 

notifying the Council immediately and for the cost of its replacement. 

 
5. The proprietor of the vehicle will not permit any person to drive the vehicle unless that 

person holds a valid Hackney Carriage/Private Hire vehicle driver’s licence issued by the 

Council except for when a person drives the vehicle for the purpose of conducting a 

vehicle inspection report/MOT/ or other mechanical check. 

 
6. The proprietor of the vehicle must notify the Council of any change in his or her address 

or of any change in ownership of the vehicle within 7 days of such change occurring. 

 
7. The occurrence of any accident involving the vehicle which materially affects the safety, 

performance or appearance of the vehicle must be reported to the Council within 72 

hours. 

 
8. The vehicle and all its fittings and equipment shall at all times when the vehicle is in use 

or available for hire be kept in an efficient, safe and tidy and clean condition and all 

relevant statutory requirements shall be fully complied with. 

 
9. The proprietor of the vehicle will ensure that driver will carry a guide dog or other 

assistance dog as defined in the Equality Act 2010 upon the request of a hirer unless the 

driver of the vehicle at the time of the request holds a certificate exempting him from 

this duty. 

 
10. Any animal, other than one to which the Equality Act 2010 applies may be carried by this 

vehicle at the discretion of the driver in such a place as may be specified by the driver. 

Appendix 3: Conditions Applicable to Hackney Carriages 

~ Page 51 ~



32 

 

 

11. One roof sign stating the name of this vehicles licensed private hire operator and its 

telephone number may be displayed. The word “Taxi” or words “for hire” should be 

displayed. The Council reserve the right to request the removal of this roof sign. No 

other signs, notices, advertisements, plates, marks, numbers, letters, figures, symbols, 

emblems, or devices whatsoever shall be displayed on, in or from the vehicle without 

written approval of the Council. 

 
12. There shall be provided and maintained in the vehicle at all times when in use and 

available for hire a suitable and efficient fire extinguisher which conforms to the current 

British Standard (BS5423) (minimum capacity 1 litre). Such fire extinguisher will be kept 

within the vehicle in a place where it is easily accessible and be clearly marked with the 

vehicles licence plate number and/or registration number. 

 
13. A suitable first aid kit will be kept and maintained within the vehicle and will clearly bear 

the vehicle licence number and/or registration number. 

 
14. Where the holder of this licence allows another person to use the licensed vehicle the 

licence holder must inform the Council of the name, address and the Hackney 

Carriage/Private Hire vehicle driver licence number of that other person and the period 

of time that person will be using the vehicle. 

 
15. This licence will expire 12 months after the date of issue. The expiry date is specified on 

this licence and the external and internal plates supplied with it. 

 
16. This vehicle licence is subject to the licensed vehicle passing a vehicle test six months 

from the issue date of this licence unless exempted from this requirement by the Council 

due to it being aged two years or less from the date of its manufacture. 

 
17. Application for renewal of this licence should be made to The Licensing Section, Council 

Offices, Station Road, Wigston, Leicestershire, LE18 2DR. 

~ Page 52 ~



33 

 

 

 
 
 

BYELAWS 
 

Made under Section 68 of the Town Police Clauses Act 1847, and section 171 of the Public Health Act 1875, by 

the council of Oadby & Wigston with respect to Hackney Carriages in the Borough of Oadby & Wigston. 
 

Interpretation 
 

1. Throughout these byelaws “the Council” means the Council of Oadby & Wigston and “the district” 
means the Borough of Oadby & Wigston. 

 
 

Provisions regulating the manner in which the number of each Hackney Carriage corresponding 

with the number of its licence shall be displayed 
 

2.a) i) If an external licence plate bearing the number of his licence has been supplied by the Council to  

the proprietor of a Hackney Carriage such proprietor shall cause such external plate to be affixed 

to the rear of the carriage in a prominent upright position so as to be at all times plainly visible; 

and 
 

ii) If an internal licence plate bearing the number of his licence has been supplied by the Council to 
the proprietor of a Hackney Carriage such proprietor shall cause such internal plate to be affixed 
to the inside of the windscreen of the carriage in a prominent upright position so as to be plainly 
visible to other persons in the carriage 

 
2.b) A proprietor or driver of a Hackney Carriage shall: - 

 

(i) not wilfully or negligently cause or suffer any such plate to be concealed from public view while 
the carriage is standing or plying for hire; and. 

(ii) not cause or permit the carriage to stand or ply for hire with any such painting marking or plate 
so defaced that any figure or material particular is illegible. 

 
 

Provisions regulating how Hackney Carriages are to be furnished or provided 
 

3. The proprietor of a Hackney Carriage shall:- 
 

(a) provide sufficient means by which any person in the carriage may communicate with the 
driver; 

(b) cause the roof or covering to be kept water-tight; 
(c) provide any necessary windows and a means of opening and closing, not less than one window 

on each side; 
(d) cause the seats to be properly cushioned or covered; 
(e) cause the floor to be provided with a proper carpet, mat or other suitable covering; 
(f) cause the fittings and furniture generally to be kept in a clean condition, well maintained and in 

every way fit for public service; 
(g) provide means for securing luggage if the carriage is so constructed as to carry luggage; 
(h) provide an efficient fire extinguisher which shall be carried in such a position as to be readily 

available for use; and 
(i) provide a working electric light in the interior of such carriage for the use of any person hiring 

such carriage or being driven therein 

Appendix 4: Byelaws Applicable to Hackney Carriages 

~ Page 53 ~



34 

 

 

4. The proprietor of a Hackney Carriage shall cause the same to be provided with a taximeter so 
constructed, attached and maintained as to comply with the following requirements, that is to say:- 

 
(a) the taximeter shall be fitted with a key, flag or other device, the turning of which will bring 

the machinery of the taximeter into action and cause the word “HIRED” to appear on the 

face of the taximeter; 
 

(b) such key, flag or other device shall be capable of being locked in such a position that the 

machinery of the taximeter is not in action and that no fare is recorded on the face of the 

taximeter; 
 

(c) when the machinery of the taximeter is in action there shall be recorded on the face of the 

taximeter in clearly legible figures, a fare not exceeding the rate or fare which the proprietor 

or driver is entitled to demand and take for the hire of the carriage by time as well as for 

distance in pursuance of the tariff fixed by the Council; 
 

(d) the word “FARE” shall be printed on the face of the taximeter in plain letters so as clearly to 

apply to the fare recorded thereon; 
 

(e) the taximeter shall be so placed that all letters and figures on the face thereof are at all times 

plainly visible to any person being conveyed in the carriage and for that purpose the letters 

and figures shall be capable of being suitably illuminated during any period of hiring; and 
 

(f) the taximeter and all the fittings thereof shall be so affixed to the carriage with seals or other 

appliances that it shall not be practicable for any person to tamper with them except by 

breaking, damaging or permanently displacing the seals or other appliances. 

 
 
 

Provisions regulating the conduct of the proprietors and drivers of Hackney Carriages plying within 

the district in their several employments and determining whether such drivers shall wear any and 

what badges 
 

5. The driver of a Hackney Carriage provided with a taximeter shall:- 
 

(a) when standing or plying for hire keep the key, flag or other device fitted in pursuance of the 

byelaw in that behalf locked in the position in which no fare is recorded on the face of the 

taximeter; 
 

(b) before beginning a journey for which a fare is charged for distance and time, bring the 

machinery of the taximeter into action by moving the said key, flag or other device so that 

the word “HIRED” is legible on the face of the taximeter and keep the machinery of the 

taximeter in action until the termination of the hiring; and 
 

(c) cause the dial of the taximeter to be kept properly illuminated throughout any part of a 

hiring which is between half an hour after sunset and half an hour before sunrise, and also at 

any other time at the request of the hirer. 
 

6. A proprietor or driver of a Hackney Carriage shall not tamper with or permit any person to tamper 

with any taximeter with which the carriage is provided, with the fittings thereof, or with the seals 

affixed thereto provided that this shall not prevent the proprietor or driver from temporarily 

removing the taximeter from the Hackney Carriage to a place of safety when the Hackney Carriage is 

not in use. 

~ Page 54 ~



35 

 

 

7. The driver of a Hackney Carriage shall, when plying for hire in any street and not actually hired:- 
 

a) proceed with reasonable speed to one of the stands appointed by the Council; 
 

b) if a stand, at the time of his arrival, is occupied by the full number of carriages authorised to 
occupy it, proceed to another stand; 

c) on arriving at a stand not already occupied by the full number of carriages authorised to 
occupy it, station the carriage immediately behind the carriage or carriages on the stand and 
so as to face in the same direction; and 

d) from time to time, when any other carriage immediately in front is driven off or moved 
forward cause his carriage to be moved forward so as to fill the place previously occupied by 
the carriage driven off or moved forward. 

 

8. A proprietor or driver of a Hackney Carriage when standing or plying for hire shall not make use of the 

services of any other person for the purpose of importuning any person to hire such carriage. 
 

9. The driver of a Hackney Carriage shall behave in a civil and orderly manner and shall take all 

reasonable precautions to ensure the safety of persons conveyed in or entering or alighting from the 

vehicle. 
 

10. The proprietor or driver of a Hackney Carriage who has agreed or has been hired to be in attendance 

with the carriage at an appointed time and place shall, unless delayed or prevented by some sufficient 

cause, punctually attend with such carriage at such appointed time and place. 
 

11. A proprietor or driver of a Hackney Carriage shall not convey or permit to be conveyed in such 

carriage any greater number of persons than the number of persons specified on the plate affixed to 

the outside of the carriage. 
 

12. If a badge has been provided by the Council and delivered to the driver of a Hackney Carriage he shall, 

when standing or plying for hire, and when hired, wear that badge in such a position and manner as 

to be plainly visible. 
 

13. The driver of a Hackney Carriage so constructed as to carry luggage shall, when requested by any 

person hiring or seeking to hire the carriage:- 
 

(a) convey a reasonable quantity of luggage; 
 

(b) afford reasonable assistance in loading and unloading; and 
 

(c) afford reasonable assistance in removing it to or from the entrance of any building, station or 

place at which the driver may take up or set down such person. 

 
 
 

Provisions fixing the rates or fares to be paid for Hackney Carriages within the district and securing 

the due publication of such fares 
 

14. (i) The proprietor or driver of Hackney Carriage shall be entitled to demand and take for the hire of the 

carriage the rate or fare prescribed by the Council, the rate or fare being calculated by a combination 

of distance and time unless the hirer express at the commencement of the hiring his desire to engage 

by time. 
 

(ii) Where a Hackney Carriage furnished with a taximeter is hired by distance and time the proprietor or 

driver thereof shall not be entitled to demand and take a fare greater than that recorded on the 

~ Page 55 ~



36 

 

 

taximeter, save for any extra charges authorised by the Council which it may not be possible to record 

on the face of the taximeter. 
 

15.(i) The proprietor of a Hackney Carriage shall cause a statement of the fares fixed by council resolution 

to be exhibited inside the carriage, in clearly distinguishable letters and figures. 
 

(ii) The proprietor or driver of a Hackney Carriage bearing a statement of fares in accordance with this 

byelaw shall not wilfully or negligently cause or suffer the letters or figures in the statement to be 

concealed or rendered illegible at any time while the carriage is plying or being used for hire. 

 
 
 

Provisions securing the safe custody and re-delivery of property accidentally left in Hackney 

Carriages and fixing the charges to be made in respect thereof 

16. The proprietor or driver of a Hackney Carriage shall immediately after the termination of any hiring, 

or as soon as practicable thereafter, carefully search the carriage for any property which may have 

been accidentally left therein. 
 

17. The proprietor or driver of a Hackney Carriage shall, if any property accidentally left therein by any 

person who may have been conveyed in the carriage, be found by or handed to him:- 
 

(a) carry it as soon as possible and in any event within 48 hours if not sooner claimed by or on 

behalf of its owner, to either the office of the Council (provided that any day on which such 

office is closed shall be excluded from such calculation) or to a police station in the district 

and leave it in the custody of the officer in charge of the office or police station as the case 

may be on his giving a receipt for it; and 
 

(b) be entitled to receive from any person to whom the property shall be re-delivered an 

amount equal to five pence in the pound of its estimated value (or the fare for the distance 

from the place of finding to the office of the Council or the police station, whichever be the 

greater) but not more than five pounds. 
 

Penalties 
 

18. Every person who shall offend against any of these byelaws shall be liable on summary conviction to a 

fine not exceeding Level 2 on the Standard Scale and in the case of a continuing offence to a further 

fine not exceeding two pounds for each day during which the offence continues after conviction 

therefore. 
 

Repeal of byelaws 
 

19. The byelaws relating to Hackney Carriages which were made by Oadby & Wigston Borough Council on 

5th day of January 1977 and which were confirmed by the Secretary of State on 18 February 1977 are 

hereby repealed. 

~ Page 56 ~



37 

 

 

 
 

All Hackney Carriage vehicles must be fitted with a taximeter installed by an authorised taximeter 

company. The taximeter is to be maintained so that it complies with the following requirements:- 

 
 

1. The taximeter shall be fitted with a key, flag or other device, the turning of which will bring 
the taximeter into action and cause the word “HIRED” to appear on the face of the 
taximeter 

 
 

2. Such key, flag or other device shall be capable of being locked in such a position that the 
machinery of the taximeter is not then in action and no fare is recorded on the face of the 
taximeter 

 
 

3. When the taximeter is in action there shall be recorded on its face in clearly legible figures a 
fare not exceeding the rate or fare which the proprietor or driver is entitled to demand and 
take for the hire of the carriage by distance in pursuance of the scale of fares set by the 
Council 

 
 

4. The word FARE shall be printed on the face of the taximeter in plain letters so as clearly to 
apply to the fare recorded thereon 

 
 

5. The taximeter shall be so placed so that all letters and figures on the face thereof are at all 
times plainly visible to any person being conveyed in the carriage, and for that purpose the 
letters and figures shall be capable of being suitably illuminated during any period of hiring 

 
 

6. The taximeter and all the fittings thereof shall be so affixed to the carriage with seals or 
other appliances that it shall not be practicable for any person to tamper with them except 
by breaking, damaging or permanently displacing the seals or other appliances and in a 
position so as not to present any hazard to the occupants of the vehicle or impede and 
safety equipment fitted to the vehicle such as airbags, seatbelts etc. 

 
 

7. The taximeter shall be calibrated and sealed by the taximeter company at first installation 
and then on an annual basis or when the seal is broken or missing or following a change to 
the Table of Fares. A valid certificate should be produced to the Council on transfer or 
change of a licence. Once adopted a table of fares must be clearly displayed within the 
vehicle 

Appendix 5: Hackney Carriage Taximeter Standards 

~ Page 57 ~



38 

 

 

 
 

BOROUGH OF OADBY AND WIGSTON LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 

1976 

Oadby and Wigston Borough Council, in accordance with Section 65 of the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and in accordance with the Council’s Hackney Carriage byelaws 

has implemented the following table of fares: 
 

1. DISTANCE Maximum fare 

 
Up to and including one mile (1.61 kilometres) £3.00 

 
For each additional one fifth of a mile (322 metres) 28p 

2. WAITING TIME 
 

 
For each completed period of 1 minute 30p 

3. EXTRA CHARGES 
 

(a) For each journey begun or ended between midnight and 6 am 
(other than bank holiday Mondays, Christmas Day, Boxing Day 
and New Year’s Day). 

Normal fare plus 33 % 

(b) For each journey begun or ended on Christmas Day, Boxing Day 
and New Year’s Day, for each journey made after 6 pm on 
Christmas Eve and New Year’s Eve and for each journey begun 
or ended between midnight and 6 am on 27 December and 2 
January. 

Double fare 

(c) For each journey begun or ended on a bank holiday Monday. Normal fare plus 33% 

(d) For all journeys made by vehicles which can accommodate 
between 5 and 8 passengers. 

Normal fare plus 50% 

(e) For each dog carried (except guide dogs which travel free). £1.00 per journey 

(f) Soiling charge £50.00 

(g) Wheelchairs Free of charge 

 

NOTICE TO PASSENGERS: Travelling outside the Borough boundary:- 

1. Fares for these journeys are negotiable between the driver and the hirer before the journey 
commences. 

2. Where no fare is agreed in advance of the journey, the maximum charge is limited to the amount 
which would be payable if calculated on the above scale fixed by the Borough Council for journeys 
within the Borough. 

Appendix 6: Hackney Carriage Table of Fares 

~ Page 58 ~



39 

 

 

 
 

Where a driver requests an exemption from the conditions requiring the display of the normal 

vehicle licence plates the following policy will apply. 

A vehicle will be exempted under this policy where Oadby and Wigston Borough Council are satisfied 

that the vehicle is suitable for licensing as an executive hire vehicle and the vehicle is used 

predominantly for this purpose. 80% of all work must be of a corporate or executive nature, as 

opposed to ordinary Private Hire work. Such work does not include airport transfers for non- 

corporate customers. 
 

The applicant must make a formal application in writing and give the following information: 
 

 The full details of the vehicle required to be exempt from displaying the traditional plate, 

including make and model of vehicle, vehicle registration, its licence details, the vehicle 

owner’s details and full name and address and licensed drivers number of the driver using the 

vehicle. 

 The applicant must satisfy Oadby and Wigston Borough Council that the vehicle is suitable for 

licensing as an executive hire vehicle. 

 The applicant must provide evidence of an account or accounts with a recognised business 

customer. Full details of clients must be provided in order to determine the application and 

should include the name of the company or companies, their address, telephone number, e- 

mail address and an individual contact able to provide a reference. 

 The approximate number of journeys undertaken for each client on a weekly basis must also 

be provided for the last six months to allow determination that 80% of the work carried out is 

of a corporate nature. 

 
 

The following conditions will apply: 
 

 Drivers of executive vehicles should be appropriately dressed, usually in a business suit or 

jacket and tie with smart trousers and required to show their licensed drivers badge upon 

request. 

 No form of advertising or signage will be permitted on an executive vehicle other than the 

executive licence plate. 

 Records must be provided annually or upon the request of a Licensing officer to allow the 

council to verify that such an exemption is still suitable. 

 All other private hire conditions will apply. 

Appendix 7: Private Hire Plate Exemption for Executive Vehicles 

~ Page 59 ~



40 

 

 

 

1. The licensed driver shall at all times when acting in accordance with the driver’s licence 

granted to him wear the identification badge supplied to him on the Council issued lanyard. 

The badge must be displayed in such manner that the front, displaying the name and 

photograph of the driver, is clearly visible to members of the public. 
 

2. The licensed driver shall display the supplied duplicate copy of his identification badge on the 

dashboard of any licensed vehicle driven by him in a position where it is clearly visible to 

passengers within the vehicle. 
 

3. This licence and the driver’s badges will be returned to the Council as soon as reasonably 

practicable upon the expiry, revocation or suspension of the licence. 

4 This licence must be produced on request by an authorised officer of the Council or a Police 

Constable. 

5. This licence is granted to the named licence holder only and is not transferable to any other 

person. 

6. When driving a licensed vehicle in accordance with this licence the licence holder will ensure 

that the licensed vehicle plates are affixed securely to the vehicle and displayed in the manner 

specified. 
 

7. The licensed driver shall within seven days disclose to the Council, in writing, details of any of 

the following occurrences: 

i) The licensed driver being convicted of any offence, with the notification to include 

details of the date and venue of the conviction, the offence for which the driver has 

been convicted and the penalty imposed. 
 

ii) The licensed driver being given a caution, with the notification to include details of 

the date and venue of the caution and the offence for which the driver has been 

cautioned. 
 

iii) The licensed driver accepting a fixed penalty notice with notification to include the 

details of the date, the location or venue and the nature of the offence the fixed 

penalty notice was given for. 

iv) The licensed driver changing his address, with the notification to include full details 

of the new address. 

8. The licensed driver shall, on receipt of any complaint by a hirer or other passenger, 

immediately notify the complainant of their right to forward the complaint to the Council. 

Appendix 8: Conditions Attached to Combined Hackney 

Carriage and Private Hire Driver Licences 

~ Page 60 ~



41 

 

 

9. The licensed driver shall, on receipt of any complaint, inform any relevant Private Hire 

Operator of the particulars of the complaint, the date and time the complaint was received, 

the name and address of the complainant and the nature of the complaint. 
 

10. The licensed driver shall, immediately after the termination of the hiring of the vehicle, or as 

soon as practicable thereafter, carefully search the vehicle for any property which may have 

been accidentally left there. 

11. Any property accidentally left by any person in a licensed vehicle driven by the licensed driver 

and found by, or handed to, the licensed driver, shall be taken within 48 hours to the nearest 

Police Station and left in the custody of the officer in charge, unless it is claimed by the owner 

within that time. 
 

12. The licensed driver shall: 
 

i) Afford all reasonable assistance with passengers’ luggage; 
 

ii) At all times be clean and respectable in his dress and person and behave in a civil 

and orderly manner; 

iii) Take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of passengers and luggage conveyed 

in, entering or alighting from the vehicle driven by him; 
 

iv) Not without the express consent of the hirer, drink or eat in the vehicle; 
 

v) Not without the express consent of the hirer, play any radio or sound reproducing 

instrument or equipment in the vehicle other than for the purpose of sending or 

receiving messages in connection with the operation of the vehicle. 

vi) At no time cause or permit the noise emitted by any radio or other previously 

mentioned equipment in the vehicle which he is driving to be a source of nuisance or 

annoyance to any person, whether inside or outside the vehicle. 
 

13. The driver shall, immediately notify the Council of the existence of any medical condition 

which may affect their ability to drive. 

14. Maintenance of the vehicle 

The licensed driver shall: 

i) Ensure that the vehicle to be driven by him is in a roadworthy condition, thoroughly 

cleaned and all equipment, fittings and fixtures are present and serviceable and 

complies,  with the conditions attached to the licence relating to the vehicle before 

the commencement of any journey. 

ii) Record details of checks and inspections in the record book provided by the 

proprietor of the vehicle. 

iii) Report any defect discovered by the licensed driver to the proprietor of the Vehicle. 
 

 
15. The licensed driver shall not:- 

~ Page 61 ~



42 

 

 

 

i) Convey or permit to be conveyed in the Vehicle a greater number of persons than 

that prescribed in the licence for the Vehicle. 

ii) Without the consent of the Hirer, convey or permit to be conveyed any other person 

in the Vehicle. 

iii) Allow to be conveyed in the front of the vehicle: 

 
(1) Any child below the age of three years 

(2) More than one person above the age of three years 

(3) An infant secured only in the arms of a passenger. 
 

 
Variation of Conditions 

 

The Council reserves the right to vary, delete or waive any of these Conditions. 
 

Appeals 
 

If aggrieved by any of these Conditions, the Licensee may appeal to a Magistrates’ Court within 

twenty-one days of the issue of the Licence to the Licensee. 

~ Page 62 ~



43 

 

 

 
 

1. This licence is granted to the person named on the licence and is not transferable to another 

person. 

2. The address or addresses from which the licence holder is permitted to operate from is named 

on this licence. No other address or addresses are permitted to be used for the operation of 

private hire bookings. 
 

3. Where the licence holder operates from premises to which the public have access the licence 

holder must at all times have a valid certificate of Public Liability Insurance. 

4. This licence must be produced on request by an authorised officer of the Borough Council or 

by a Police Constable. 

6. A record shall be kept by the licence holder of every contract for the hire of a vehicle made by 

the operator to whom this licence is granted. The records required to be kept by the operator 

under Section 56 (2) of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 must be in 

a manner, whether written or electronic form, which enables them to be examined or 

audited. The operator must record, before the commencement of each journey, the following 

particulars of every booking: 
 

a. The time and date of booking 

b. The name, address and telephone number of the hirer 

c. How the booking was made 

d. Any price quoted 

e. The time of pick up 

f. Point of pick up 

g. The destination 

h. Time at which a driver was allocated the booking 

i. The licence number of the driver allocated the booking 

j. The licence number of the vehicle allocated the booking 

k. Any remarks 

 
9. The Licensee shall ensure that any person employed by him or otherwise utilised by him in the 

fulfilment of a licensed private hire booking is in possession of a valid Hackney 

Carriage/Private Hire vehicle drivers licence issued by Oadby and Wigston Borough Council 

and drives a vehicle licensed for the purpose of private hire by Oadby and Wigston Borough 

Council. 
 

10. The Licensee shall maintain records at all times containing, as a minimum, the following 

information:- 

a The name of the driver 

b The address of the driver 

c Badge number of the driver 

Appendix 9: Conditions Attached to Private hire Operator 

Licences 

~ Page 63 ~



44 

 

 

d Date employment commenced 

e Radio call sign used 

f Date employment ceased (if applicable) 

g Registration of vehicle used by driver 

h Vehicle Licence number (HC/PHV) 

I Vehicle make, model and colour 

 
11. The records required to be maintained by the licence holder in satisfaction of condition 10 will 

be available for inspection by a licensing officer or other authorised officer of the Council or 

supplied within 24 hours to the Council upon request. 
 

12. The Licensee shall within 7 days disclose to the Council in writing details of any convictions 

imposed upon him (or if the operator is a company or partnership, on any of the directors or 

partners) during the period of the licence. 

~ Page 64 ~



imposed. 

45 

 

 

 
 

When considering whether an applicant or licensed driver or operator is “fit and proper” to hold a 

licence the following policy will apply. 

“Fit and proper” means that the individual (or in the case of a private hire operator’s license, the 

limited company together with its directors and secretary, or all members of a partnership) is “safe 

and suitable” to hold the license. 

In determining safety and suitability, Oadby and Wigston Borough Council is entitled to take into 

account all matters concerning that applicant or licensee. This consideration is far wider than simply 

criminal convictions or other evidence of unacceptable behaviour, and the entire character of the 

Individual will be considered. This can include, but is not limited to, the individual’s attitude and 

temperament. 
 

General 
 

Hackney carriage and private hire drivers are professional drivers charged with the responsibility of 

carrying the public. Any motoring conviction demonstrates a lack of professionalism and will be 

considered seriously. It is accepted that offences can be committed unintentionally, and a single 

occurrence of a minor traffic offence would not prohibit the grant of a licence or may not result in 

action against an existing licence. Subsequent convictions reinforce the fact that the licensee does 

not take their professional responsibilities seriously and is therefore not a safe and suitable person 

to be granted or retain a licence. 
 

It is important to recognise that matters which have not resulted in a criminal conviction (whether 

that is the result of an acquittal, a conviction being quashed, decision not to prosecute or an 

investigation which is continuing where the individual has been bailed) can and will be taken into 

account by the Council. In addition, complaints where there was no police involvement will also be 

considered. In this policy, any reference to “conviction” will also include matters that amount to 

criminal behaviour, but which have not resulted in conviction. 
 

In the case of any new applicant who has been charged with any offence and is awaiting trial, the 

determination will be deferred until the trial has been completed or the charges withdrawn. Where 

an existing licensee is charged, it will be for the Council to decide what action to take. 

In all cases, Oadby and Wigston Borough Council will consider the conviction or behaviour in 

question and what weight should be attached to it, and each and every case will be determined on 

its own merits and in the light of this policy. 

In July 2018, the Council adopted the ‘Institute of Licensing’s Guidance on Determining the 

Suitability of Applicants and Licensees in the Hackney and Private Hire Trade’s’. A copy of the 

current Guidance can be found at: 

https://www.instituteoflicensing.org/documents/Guidance_on_Suitability_Web_Version_(16_May_20

18).pdf  

  

Appendix 10: Policy on Assessing Convictions 

~ Page 65 ~

https://www.instituteoflicensing.org/documents/Guidance_on_Suitability_Web_Version_(16_May_2018).pdf
https://www.instituteoflicensing.org/documents/Guidance_on_Suitability_Web_Version_(16_May_2018).pdf


47 

 

 

Combined or Multiple Offences 
 

Where an applicant or licence holder has a combined number of offences which may, when taken 

individually fall into the above guidelines, the Council will consider the cumulative effect of 

convictions. A frequent or varied number of minor offences may result in the Council not being 

satisfied a person is fit and proper until a much longer period than those specified above has elapsed 

without further conviction. 
 

Disclosure 
 

When dealing with an applicant or licence holder who has convictions the Council will also take into 

account the convicted persons dealings with the Council. Any person who fails to disclose a 

conviction without good reason will be considered by the Council to be acting dishonestly and 

therefore not suitable to work safely with members of the public. 

~ Page 66 ~



48 

 

 

 
 

1. Introduction 
 

This guidance describes the Penalty Point System that will be used by the Council to deal with minor 

offences, breaches of licence conditions or unacceptable behaviour committed by Private Hire 

Operators, Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Drivers or Proprietors of Licensed Vehicles. 
 

2. Purpose of Scheme 
 

The key responsibility of the Council is to ensure that only “fit and proper” persons are allowed to 

act as Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Vehicle Drivers or Operators to protect members of the public. 

The majority of offences created by the legislation applicable to licence holders require the Council 

to either prosecute or revoke a licence. There is no way of dealing with minor offences which, when 

taken alone, are not serious enough to warrant the suspension or revocation of a licence. 
 

The Penalty Points Scheme is designed to identify drivers, operators or vehicle proprietors who 

repeatedly commit minor breaches of law and licence conditions, which over time indicates that 

they are not a “fit and proper” person to hold a licence. 

 

The Penalty Points Scheme is designed to focus licensee’s attention on the importance of abiding 

by the conditions of their licence and the law. It is not a system to penalise responsible licence 

holders. The Council recognise that all licence holders will make minor mistakes from time to time. 

The Penalty Points Scheme however will allow the Council to recognise those licence holders who 

frequently commit offences to the point that they are putting members of the public at risk. 

 

It is not intended that the Penalty Points Scheme will replace or act as an alternative to the 

Council’s options to caution or prosecute for offences. Rather, the scheme will be there to run 

concurrently with these powers. Depending upon the severity of an offence, the Council may 

decide to prosecute or caution for an offence, as well as award penalty points against the driver. 

 

3. Who is Covered by the Scheme 
 

Penalty points may be awarded against anyone holding a Hackney Carriage/Private Hire vehicle 

Drivers licence, Hackney Carriage licence, Private Hire Vehicle licence or Private Hire Operator’s 

licence. 
 

4. How the Scheme Works 
 

The scheme includes a number of offences that may be committed by a licence holder and attributes 

points to them. Once a licence holder has received a certain level of points within a 24 month period 

the Council will consider if further action is needed to be taken. 
 

Any points accrued under the scheme are completely separate from any points which may be 

attached to a DVLA driving licence by the Police or the Courts. 

Appendix 11: Penalty Points Scheme 

~ Page 67 ~



49 

 

 

Whilst the scheme provides a way of dealing with minor matters, it does not override the Council’s 

discretion to suspend or revoke a licence for a more serious matter. Nor does it mean that breaches 

of legislation will not result in prosecutions, where it is considered right to do so. 
 

Where there is evidence that there has been an offence, a breach of condition or inappropriate 

behaviour the licensee will be issued with Penalty Points under this scheme. 
 

5. Penalty Points Notice 
 

A Penalty Points Notice will be issued to a licence holder where there is evidence that an offence 

listed in this scheme has been committed. Usually this will be where the offence or breach has been 

witnessed by either one of the Council’s Licensing Officer, a Police Officer, a Police Community 

Support Officer or another Council Officer. Penalty Points will be awarded where written complaints 

received from members of the public, local residents or businesses and where there is clear, 

verifiable evidence that an infringement has taken place. 
 

The notice will inform the licence holder that points have been given to him and are kept on our 

records. The notice will describe the offence, when it took place, and how many points have been 

awarded to the licensee. This notice will be issued to the licensee in person or through the post to 

his or her home. The notice will also inform the licence holder of his right to appeal. 
 

6. Points Total for Drivers and Vehicle Proprietors 
 

The total amount of points that may be awarded to the holder of a drivers licence or vehicle licence 

before their licences are reviewed is 12 points within 24 months (2 years). 
 

Once this threshold is reached the offenders licences will be reviewed. This could result in a warning, 

suspension or revocation of licence, an extension to the time period for the points will stay on his 

licence or requiring the licence holder to obtain a pass certificate from the Driver Standards Agency’s 

Hackney Carriage/Private Hire assessment test or undertake the Councils competency test. There is 

redress to the Magistrates Court only in the cases of either suspension or revocation of a licence. 
 

7. Points Total for Operators 
 

The total amount of points that may be awarded to the holder of an operator’s licence is 24 within a 

24 month period. This is due to the different types of offences that points may be awarded for. The 

points will be attached to the operating licence and not any other licence held by the operator. 
 

8. Appealing Against a Penalty Notice 
 

A licence holder in receipt of Penalty Points may appeal against the notice in writing to the Head of 

Corporate Resources within 28 days from the date of the notice giving the reasons why the points 

given are not appropriate. The matter will then be considered by the Head of Corporate Resources 

and a written response will be sent to the appellant. 

~ Page 68 ~



50 

 

 

Penalty Points Scheme – 

Offences and Point Scale 

Drivers 

Offences where Penalty Points will be given to Drivers 
 

Offence Code Points 

Failure to give reasonable assistance to a passenger to or from any building, station or 

place at which the driver may pick up or drop off. 

D1 2 

Failure to give reasonable assistance with passenger’s luggage to or from any building, 

station or place at which the driver may pick up or drop off. 

D2 2 

Failure to maintain a reasonably clean and respectable appearance when conveying 

members of the public in a licensed vehicle or otherwise working in a capacity as a 

licensed driver. 

D3 2 

Drinking or eating without the express consent of the hirer. D4 2 

The playing of any radio or sound or visual reproducing instrument or equipment without 

the express consent of the hirer other than for the purpose of sending or receiving 

messages in connection with the operation of the vehicle. 

D5 2 

Failure to check a vehicle used by the driver for the carriage of passengers for lost 

property after each fare. 

D6 2 

Failure to take any lost property found in a vehicle used by the driver for the carriage of 

passengers to a Police Station as soon as possible or within 48 hours. 

D7 2 

Failure to notify the Licensing Authority within 7 days of a change in address or for every 

7 days that elapses following a change in the licensed drivers address for which the 

driver fails to notify the Licensing Authority. 

D8 1 

Failure to take all reasonable steps to ensure the safety of passengers conveyed in, 

entering or leaving the vehicle driven by the licensed driver. 

D9 3 

Causing or permitting the playing of any radio or sound or visual reproducing instrument 

or equipment in a licensed vehicle to be a source of nuisance or annoyance to anyone, 

whether inside or out. 

D10 2 

~ Page 69 ~



51 

 

 

Refusing to carry a guide dog or assistance dog without a licensed drivers exemption 

certificate. 

D11 5 

Failure to notify the Licensing Authority in writing within 7 days of any caution or 

conviction or fixed penalty notice imposed, received or accepted by the driver. 

D12 5 

Behaving in a rude, abusive, offensive or obstructive manner or other conduct failing to 

be civil and orderly, whether to customers, authorised officers, Council staff, or members 

of the public. 

D13 3 

Failure of a licensed driver to produce valid vehicle insurance certificate within 7 days of 

request. 

D14 3 

The sounding of a vehicle horn or other audible equipment to attract customers’ 

attention. 

D15 2 

Failure to display one licensed drivers identity badge on his/her person as prescribed by 

the Licensing Authority when driving a licensed vehicle 

D16 3 

Failure to display one licensed drivers identity badge in the licensed vehicle in a position 

clearly viewable to passengers or otherwise as directed by the Licensing Authority. 

D17 3 

Refusing to take a fare without good reason. D18 3 

Charging or attempting to charge more than the agreed or legal fare. D19 4 

Failing to wait after a deposit to wait has been paid. D20 5 

Travelling less than the lawful distance for an agreed fare. D21 3 

Permitting a vehicle other than a Hackney Carriage to wait on a Hackney Carriage stand 

(contrary to Section 64 and 76 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976) 

D22 2 

When driving a Hackney Carriage charging or attempting to charge more than the 

metered fare (whether for private hire or not). 

D23 2 

When driving a Hackney Carriage charging more than the metered fare for a journey 

ending outside the district other than with the prior agreement of the hirer. 

D24 2 

Interfering with a Taximeter. D25 3 

Obstruction of, failing to comply with a requirement of, or offer reasonable assistance 

and information to, an authorised officer or constable. 

D26 2 

Failure to attend for hiring without good reason D27 2 

Failure to drive to rear of the last Hackney Carriage Vehicle on the stand D28 2 

~ Page 70 ~



52 

 

 

Hackney Carriage Driver refusing to carry prescribed number of passengers. Section 52 

Town Police Clause Act 1847 

D29 2 

Leaving a Hackney Carriage Vehicle unattended in public place. Section 62 Town and 

Police Clauses Act 1847 

D30 2 

Hackney Carriage Driver refusing to drive. Section 53 Town Police Clauses Act 1847 D31 2 

Hackney Carriage Driver permitting persons to be carried without the consent of hirer. 

Section 88 Town and Police Clauses Act 1847 

D32 2 

Leaving Hackney Carriage Vehicle obstructing other drivers on the rank. Section 64 Town 

and Police Clauses Act 1847 

D33 2 

Failure to comply with any other licence condition imposed on the drivers licence. D34 1 

 

Offences where Penalty Points will be given to Proprietors of Vehicles 
 

Displaying signage or livery on a licensed vehicle not authorised by the Licensing 

Authority. 

V1 2 

Failure to keep a licensed vehicle reasonably clean and tidy inside and out. V2 2 

Failure to ensure a first aid box is carried in the licensed vehicle in a position or place 

which is easily accessible. 

V3 2 

Failure to ensure a fire extinguisher is carried in the licensed vehicle in a position or place 

which is easily accessible. 

V4 2 

Failure to notify the Licensing Authority in writing within 7 days of the transfer of 

ownership of a licensed vehicle. 

V5 3 

Failure to display the external licence plate in the manner prescribed and required by 

conditions of licence as approved by the Licensing Authority. 

V6 2 

Failure to display the internal licence plate in the manner prescribed and required by 

conditions of licence as approved by the Licensing Authority. 

V7 2 

Failure to report to the Licensing Authority any damage to a licensed vehicle caused by a 

road traffic accident or other means which affects the safety, performance or appearance 

of the vehicle within 72 hours of occurrence. 

V8 2 

Failure to ensure that a fare chart is displayed in Hackney Carriage. V9 2 

~ Page 71 ~



53 

 

 

Failure to ensure that the fittings and equipment of a licensed vehicle which are 

reasonably noticeable to a prudent driver are kept in an efficient and safe condition at all 

times and ensuring compliance with all relevant statutory requirements. 

V10 3 

 
 

Where Penalty Points will be given to an Operator 
 

Failure to keep records in the manner specified by Section 56(2) of the Local 

Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 as shown as a condition on the 

Operator’s Licence. 

O1 8 

Failure to supply the records required to be kept as conditions of the operator’s licence 

to the Licensing Authority upon request. 

O2 8 

Operating a vehicle which does not hold a current valid vehicle licence with the 

Licensing Authority. 

O3 8 

Employing, or permitting, a person who is not licensed as a hackney carriage/private 

hire driver by Oadby and Wigston Borough Council to drive a licensed vehicle operated 

by the operator. 

O4 8 

Operating a vehicle that is not in suitable mechanical condition to be used as a Licensed 

vehicle, where evidenced by a mechanical check undertaken by the Licensing Authority. 

O5 2 

Obstruction of, failing to comply with a requirement of, or offer reasonable assistance 

and information to, an authorised officer or constable. 

O6 5 

Behaving in a rude, abusive, offensive or obstructive manner or other conduct failing to 

be civil and orderly, whether to customers, authorised officers, Council staff, or 

members of the public. 

O7 5 

Failure of an Operator, with a booking office to which members of the public have 

access, to have valid public liability insurance or to produce such insurance certificate 

upon request. 

O8 5 

Refusing, or otherwise failing without good reason, to provide a vehicle to carry 

passenger with a guide dog or assistance dog. 

O9 5 

Failure to notify the Licensing Authority in writing within 7 days of any caution or 

conviction or fixed penalty notice imposed, received or accepted by the operator or 

operators or if the operator is a company, by a director of the company. 

O10 6 

 

~ Page 72 ~



 

 

Licensing and 
Regulatory Committee 

Thursday, 05 March 
2020 

Matter for 
Information 

 

Report Title: Licensing Update (Q2 & Q3 2019/2020) 

Report Author(s): Tracey Aldwinckle (Licensing Enforcement Officer) 
 

Purpose of Report: This report provides an overview of the work undertaken by the 
Licensing Section for the second and third quarter of 2019/2020. 

Report Summary: This report covers the standard quarterly reporting items in relation to 
taxi and private hire licensing, applications under the Licensing Act 
2003 and Gambling Act 2005 and any notable enforcement activity. 
An update is also provided in respect of other concurrent matters 

Recommendation(s): That the contents of the report and appendices be noted. 

Senior Leadership, 
Head of Service, 
Manager, Officer and 
Other Contact(s): 

David Gill (Head of Law & Democracy / Monitoring Officer) 
(0116) 257 2626 
david.gill@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 
 
Tracey Aldwinckle (Licensing Enforcement Officer) 
(0116) 257 2689 
tracey.aldwinckle@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 

Corporate Objectives: Providing Excellent Services (CO3) 

Vision and Values: Accountability (V1) 
Teamwork (V3) 
Customer Focus (V5) 

Report Implications:- 

Legal: There are no implications arising from this report. 

Financial: There are no implications arising from this report. 

Corporate Risk 
Management: 

No corporate risk(s) identified. 

Equalities and Equalities 
Assessment (EA): 

There are no implications arising from this report. 
EA not applicable. 

Human Rights: There are no implications arising from this report. 

Health and Safety: There are no implications arising from this report. 

Statutory Officers’ Comments:- 

Head of Paid Service: The report is satisfactory. 

Chief Finance Officer: The report is satisfactory. 

Monitoring Officer: The report is satisfactory. 

~ Page 73 ~

Agenda Item 8

mailto:david.gill@oadby-wigston.gov.uk
mailto:tracey.aldwinckle@oadby-wigston.gov.uk


 

Consultees: None. 

Background Papers: None. 

Appendices: 1. Licensing Application Statistics (Q2 2019/2020) 
2. Licensing Application Statistics (Q3 2019/2020) 

 

 
1. Taxi and Private Hire Licensing 

1.1 Licensing Applications 

 During the Quarter 2 period 1 July 2019 to 31 September 2019, the Licensing Section has 
processed 206 applications for Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Driver, Vehicle and Operator 
licences.  

 During the Quarter 3 period 1 October 2019 to 31st December 2019, the Licensing Section has 
processed 211 applications for hackney carriage & private hire driver, vehicle and operator 
licences.  

1.2 Drivers 

 During the reporting periods we held Competency tests, attended by a total of 55 new 
candidates. Of the candidates who sat the test 12 gained a pass and the remaining candidates 
failed. The test forms part of the application criteria and a pass is required before the 
applicant can go forward to make an application to become a licensed driver. 30 applicants 
and drivers attended the Child Sexual Exploitation courses which were held. 

1.3 Appeal  

 On the 21 February 2020, an applicant was successful in appealing to the Crown Court against 
the dismissal of a first appeal by the Magistrates’ Court against the Council’s initial decision to 
refuse a drivers’ licence.    

2. Licensing Act 2003 
 
2.1. During quarter 2, there have been 36 applications relating to the Licensing Act; 1 Temporary 

Event Notice with alcohol, 13 Personal Licence applications and 18 applications for premises 
licences which included 1 minor variation and 12 licence transfers and or variation of the DPS 
(Designated Premises Supervisor). 

 
2.2. During quarter 3 , there have been 33 applications relating to the Licensing Act; 1   

Temporary Event Notice with alcohol, 8 Personal Licence applications and 19 applications for 
premises licences which included 2  minor variations and 2 licence transfers and or variation of 
the DPS (Designated Premises Supervisor). 

3. Gambling Act 2005 

3.1. During the Quarter 2, there were 11 applications made under the above Act, 1 Club machine 
permit, 1 Notification of Gaming Machines and 11 new small society lotteries registrations. 

 
3.2. During the Quarter 3, there were 2 applications made under the above Act, both being small 

lottery applications. 
 
4. General Licences 
 
4.1. During Quarter 2, the team also issued the following licences 11 House to House collection  

~ Page 74 ~



 

and 13 Street Collection applications. 
   

4.2. During Quarter 3, the team also issued the following licences, 1 Hairdressers, 5 House to 
House Collections, 28 Street Collection Permits and 35 Street Trading Consents. 

 
5. Licensing Enforcement  
 
5.1. Pro-active enforcement visits have been conducted in conjunction with the Police of Licensed 

premises. These visits will continue and it is intended that the amount of time dedicated to 
Taxi enforcement will increase during the year. The Licensing Enforcement Officer is currently 
investigating 3 complaints against taxi drivers, and one against a licensed premises. 

 
5.2. The Licensing Enforcement Officer has attended regularly meetings in conjunction with the 

Police with the Licensees of Wigston licenced premises.  In November 2019, ‘Safeland’ was 
launched whereby all of the licensees in Wigston save 3 have joined a scheme similar to the 
old Pub Watch where if one customer is barred from one licenced establishment they are 
barred throughout Wigston. Officers designed a ‘Safeland’ poster to be displayed in all 
participating establishments, which are being used in conjunction with a ‘Safeland’ app on 
their phones they can send information and photographs of trouble makers to other licensees. 

 
5.3. The breakdown of licensing application statistics for quarter two is attached at Appendix 1 to 

this report for Members’ information. Similarly, quarter three is attached at Appendix 2. 
 
6. ‘Sam Says Stop’ Campaign 
 
6.1. In March 2019, ‘Sam Says Stop’ campaign posters were given out to all taxi operators to 

promote the use of the Dutch Reach to prevent unnecessary injury to cyclists when passing 
stationary vehicles. Since that time all new and renewed vehicles have been issued with ‘Sam 
Says Stop’ stickers to be placed on windows in all of our licensed vehicles. The Council contin-
ues to support the ‘Sam Says Stop’ Campaign by issuing the stickers from the original stock   

 
7. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver Forum  
 
7.1. A consultation letter is still to be formatted and to be distributed to all licensed drivers 

outlining the intention to facilitate a Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers Forum.  The 
purpose of the Forum will be to engage with the trade on current issues, customer 
expectations and consultations. It is proposed that the Forum will meet 6-monthly and 
comprise members of the Trade, elected Members and Officers.   

 
8. Uniform 

 
8.1. Final configuration of the system has been completed and full go live will be by the end of 
  January 2020. Initially, the basic use of the system will be implemented across the team. 

Throughout Q4, the additional aspects will be implemented which will include new work flows 
for staff, notifications of annual fees and renewals due, etc. 

 
8.2. Final testing is being carried out on the ‘public access’ pages on the Councils website, where 

customers will be able to search for licensable activity. It is still expected that this function will 
be in use during Q4. The on-line functionality for applications is still offering a better service to 
the customer whilst making savings on printing/paper costs, staff time and streamlining the 
process for all parties. 

~ Page 75 ~



APPLICATIONS LIST

General Licensing

House to House Collection Licence

1Total Cancel/Surrender Applications:

10Total New Applications:

11Total House to House Collection Licence Applications:

Street Collection Permit

14Total New Applications:

14Total Street Collection Permit Applications:

25General Licensing Total Applications:

Print date : 25.February.2020 10:17 AM Page 1 of 4www.lalpac.com
~ Page 76 ~

Appendix 1



APPLICATIONS LIST

Taxi Licensing

Combined HC\PH Driver Licence

1Total Cancel/Surrender Applications:

9Total New Applications:

30Total Renewal Applications:

40Total Combined HC\PH Driver Licence Applications:

Hackney Carriage Licence

11Total Cancel/Surrender Applications:

42Total New Applications:

53Total Renewal Applications:

20Total Suspension Applications:

8Total Suspension Lifted Applications:

3Total Transfer Applications:

137Total Hackney Carriage Licence Applications:

Private Hire Operator Licence

2Total Cancel/Surrender Applications:

1Total Int/Amend Applications:

1Total New Applications:

4Total Private Hire Operator Licence Applications:

Private Hire Vehicle Licence

3Total Cancel/Surrender Applications:

8Total New Applications:

8Total Renewal Applications:

5Total Suspension Applications:

1Total Suspension Lifted Applications:

25Total Private Hire Vehicle Licence Applications:

206Taxi Licensing Total Applications:

Print date : 25.February.2020 10:17 AM Page 2 of 4www.lalpac.com
~ Page 77 ~



APPLICATIONS LIST

Licensing Act 2003

Late Temporary Event Notice - WITH Alcohol

3Total Temp Event Notice Applications:

3Total Late Temporary Event Notice - WITH Alcohol Applications:

Personal Alcohol Licence

4Total Change N/A Holder Applications:

9Total New Applications:

13Total Personal Alcohol Licence Applications:

Premises Licence

1Total Annual Fee Applications:

1Total AMENDMENT Applications:

1Total Minor Variation Applications:

1Total New Applications:

12Total Transfer/DPS Applications:

2Total Transfer Applications:

18Total Premises Licence Applications:

Temporary Event Notice - WITH Alcohol

2Total Temp Event Notice Applications:

2Total Temporary Event Notice - WITH Alcohol Applications:

36Licensing Act 2003 Total Applications:

Print date : 25.February.2020 10:17 AM Page 3 of 4www.lalpac.com
~ Page 78 ~



APPLICATIONS LIST

Gambling Act 2005

Club Machine Permit

1Total New Applications:

1Total Club Machine Permit Applications:

Notification of Gaming Machines

1Total Notice of Intent Applications:

1Total Notification of Gaming Machines Applications:

Small Society Lotteries

3Total Annual Fee Applications:

6Total New Applications:

9Total Small Society Lotteries Applications:

11Gambling Act 2005 Total Applications:

278Total Applications:

Print date : 25.February.2020 10:17 AM Page 4 of 4www.lalpac.com
~ Page 79 ~



APPLICATIONS LIST

General Licensing

Hairdressers and Barbers Registration Individual

1Total New Applications:

1Total Hairdressers and Barbers Registration Individual Applications:

House to House Collection Licence

5Total New Applications:

5Total House to House Collection Licence Applications:

Street Collection Permit

2Total Cancel/Surrender Applications:

1Total Amend Applications:

25Total New Applications:

28Total Street Collection Permit Applications:

Street Trading Consent

1Total New Applications:

1Total Street Trading Consent Applications:

35General Licensing Total Applications:

Print date : 25.February.2020 10:21 AM Page 1 of 4www.lalpac.com
~ Page 80 ~

Appendix 2



APPLICATIONS LIST

Taxi Licensing

Combined HC\PH Driver Licence

3Total Cancel/Surrender Applications:

9Total New Applications:

41Total Renewal Applications:

53Total Combined HC\PH Driver Licence Applications:

Hackney Carriage Licence

5Total Cancel/Surrender Applications:

34Total New Applications:

47Total Renewal Applications:

32Total Suspension Applications:

14Total Suspension Lifted Applications:

7Total Transfer Applications:

139Total Hackney Carriage Licence Applications:

Private Hire Operator Licence

1Total Int/Amend Applications:

2Total New Applications:

1Total Suspension Applications:

4Total Private Hire Operator Licence Applications:

Private Hire Vehicle Licence

1Total Cancel/Surrender Applications:

6Total New Applications:

4Total Renewal Applications:

3Total Suspension Applications:

1Total Suspension Lifted Applications:

15Total Private Hire Vehicle Licence Applications:

211Taxi Licensing Total Applications:

Print date : 25.February.2020 10:21 AM Page 2 of 4www.lalpac.com
~ Page 81 ~



APPLICATIONS LIST

Licensing Act 2003

Late Temporary Event Notice - WITH Alcohol

3Total Temp Event Notice Applications:

3Total Late Temporary Event Notice - WITH Alcohol Applications:

Personal Alcohol Licence

1Total Change N/A Holder Applications:

7Total New Applications:

8Total Personal Alcohol Licence Applications:

Premises Licence

1Total Change N/A Holder Applications:

1Total Vary DPS Applications:

9Total AMENDMENT Applications:

2Total Minor Variation Applications:

1Total New Applications:

3Total New Applications:

2Total Transfer/DPS Applications:

19Total Premises Licence Applications:

Temporary Event Notice - WITH Alcohol

3Total Temp Event Notice Applications:

3Total Temporary Event Notice - WITH Alcohol Applications:

33Licensing Act 2003 Total Applications:

Print date : 25.February.2020 10:21 AM Page 3 of 4www.lalpac.com
~ Page 82 ~



APPLICATIONS LIST

Gambling Act 2005

Small Society Lotteries

1Total Annual Fee Applications:

1Total New Applications:

2Total Small Society Lotteries Applications:

2Gambling Act 2005 Total Applications:

281Total Applications:

Print date : 25.February.2020 10:21 AM Page 4 of 4www.lalpac.com
~ Page 83 ~



 

 

Licensing and 
Regulatory Committee 

Thursday, 05 March 
2020 

Matter for 
Information 

 

Report Title: Environmental Health Update (Q2 & Q3 2019/2020) 

Report Author(s): Tony Cawthorne (Regulatory Services Manager) 
Hayley Mansfield (Environmental Health Officer) 

 

Purpose of Report: To update the Committee on the work undertaken by the Environ-
mental Health Section during quarter 2 and quarter 3 of 2019/2020. 

Report Summary: This report provides information on the progress of routine work and 
projects within the current Project Plan relevant to Environmental 
Health. Matters for discussion expand on the themes and subjects 
previously reported to the Committee. 

Recommendation(s): That the contents of the report and the appendix be noted. 

Senior Leadership, 
Head of Service, 
Manager, Officer and 
Other Contact(s): 

David Gill (Head of Law & Democracy / Monitoring Officer) 
(0116) 257 2626 
david.gill@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 
 
Tony Cawthorne (Regulatory Services Manager) 
(0116) 257 2670 
tony.cawthorne@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 
 
Hayley Mansfield (Environmental Health Officer) 
(0116) 257 2674 
hayley.mansfield@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 

Corporate Objectives: Providing Excellent Services (CO3) 

Vision and Values: Accountability (V1) 
Teamwork (V3) 
Customer Focus (V5) 

Report Implications:- 

Legal: There are no implications arising from this report. 

Financial: There are no implications directly arising from this report. 

Corporate Risk 
Management: 

Decreasing Financial Resources / Increasing Financial Pressures (CR1) 
Reputation Damage (CR4) 
Effective Utilisation of Assets / Buildings (CR5) 
Regulatory Governance (CR6) 
Organisational / Transformational Change (CR8) 

Equalities and Equalities 
Assessment (EA): 

There are no implications arising from this report. 
EA not applicable. 

Human Rights: There are no implications arising from this report. 

Health and Safety: There are no implications arising from this report. 

~ Page 84 ~

Agenda Item 9

mailto:david.gill@oadby-wigston.gov.uk
mailto:tony.cawthorne@oadby-wigston.gov.uk
mailto:hayley.mansfield@oadby-wigston.gov.uk


 

Statutory Officers’ Comments:- 

Head of Paid Service: The report is satisfactory. 

Chief Finance Officer: The report is satisfactory. 

Monitoring Officer: The report is satisfactory. 

Consultees: None. 

Background Papers: None. 

Appendices: 1. College Garth Patrols (Q2 & Q3 2019/20) 

 

1. Environmental Health Staffing 

1.1 There continues to be pressure on the department which are being met through the use of 
other Local Authorities support to carry out inspection and visits, allowing the team to 
maintain the incoming workload and meet customer standards.  

2. Dog Kennelling and Dog Warden Service 
 
2.1 The Council’s dog kennelling and dog warden service is provided by College Garth Kennels 

who undertake proactive patrols of parks and controlled spaces under the Council’s Public 
Space Protection Order and areas identified by CSC. Stencilling of areas is also now being 
undertaken and the results of the inspections are referred to Environmental Health and CSC 
for further action as required The Clean and Green team attend to the issues received by 
the reports and are then followed up by the next inspection by the dog warden patrol. A 
copy of these reports is attached at Appendix 1. 

 
2.2 College Garth Kennels are also being used in the gathering of evidence with regards to dog 

on dog attacks, educating individuals and forward evidence of any criminal behaviour 
gathered to Environmental Health to put cases together for pursuing through the courts. 
 

2.3 There have been 8 dogs collected which were kennelled for a total of 13 days in Quarter 2 
and 8 dogs collected which were kennelled for a total of 13 days in Quarter 3 All dogs were 
returned to their owners having paid the required fines and fees. 
 

3. Abandoned Vehicles 
 

3.1  The Council has received 36 notifications of abandoned vehicles (Q2 22 & Q3 14). 
Following investigation by Officers, involving contacting registered keepers and informal 
notices placed on vehicles, of the 36 vehicles reported, 8 were Parked on private land with 
the owners permission 4 had been removed before officer investigated  18 were Taxed and 
Tested and parked on the Highway, 3 vehicles were further referred to the DVLA for being 
untaxed, and advice  was given to the owners. Only 2 vehicles were formally removed as 
abandoned vehicles.  
 

4. Pest Control 
 

4.1 The Pest Control service is the subject of a separate exempt report to this committee. 
  
5.  Fly-Tipping and Littering 

 

~ Page 85 ~



 

5.1 During Q2 & Q3, there were 14 reports of fly-tipping and following investigation only one 
was  actionable by Officers as evidence was located in the waste of the perpetrator 9 of the 
reports related to the storage of items on private land and was not classed as fly tipping.   

 
6.  Food Hygiene Inspections 

6.1 80 inspections were due in Q2 & Q3 plus 8 carried forward from Q1; 93 were carried out, 
leaving 5   to carry forward into Q4. 

6.2 There were 25 new food registrations in Q & Q3: 12 have been inspected, 4 didn’t open for 
trading, 9 have been carried into Q4.  

6.3 The ratings of the food establishments are summarised below and a full list of premises 
within Oadby and Wigston Borough Council and their Food Hygiene Ratings (FHR) can be 
found on the Food Standard Agency’s webpage. 

 
6.4 To date, the total number of food premises in the Food Hygiene Rating Score (FHRS) 

Scheme is 321.  This number fluctuates due to closures and new businesses. Listed below 
in the table are the current FHRS scores.  

 
6.5 Those with a Food Hygiene Rating Score of three or above are broadly compliant which is 

current at 92%. The remaining 15 premises are receiving increased visits from 
Environmental Health Officers.  

 
 Of the 4 premises which are a current 0 score , the food business operator of one of the 

businesses has accepted a Formal Caution having brought the premises up to a satisfactory 
standard, and continues to be monitored. One prosecution is in the process of being 
prepared for court and  7 Improvement Notices have been served.  The time limit for 
compliance has not yet expired and the premises continue to be monitored.   

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
6.6 The Food Hygiene scores on a monthly basis are now being sent out on Social Media to 

publicise the work of the team and publicise the scores obtained. 
 
7. Selective Licensing 

7.1  At an extraordinary meeting of Full Council on 4 February 2020, Members adopted a 
Selective Licensing Scheme for the South Wigston Ward. The Selective Licensing Team is 
now working through the statutory notification process before the Scheme goes live on 5 
May 2020. Further updates will be provided  at future meetings of this Committee.  

FHR No. of Businesses attaining Score 

5  247 

4  37 

3   22 

2   4 

1  7 

0  4 

~ Page 86 ~



Date Week 

Commencing Patrolling Date Time on Site Time Off Site

30/09/19 West Street Wigston Loose Dog 29 9 19 8.31 10.01 Looking for loose fouling dog

Peace Memorial Wigston Park 29 9 19 10.13 11.01 No issues spoke with gardener and walkers

Pochin Close / Gas Lane Wigston Pathway 29 9 19 11.04 11.31 Bin has been emptied but fouling on floor at base of bin and 1 poo bag also some bones dropped on pathway 

Coombe Park Oadby Park 3 10 19 8.27 9.41 Spotted complaint dogs on leads and muzzled. He filmed me as he walked past. Spoke to lady owner of jrt that was attacked by ridgeback

Ashtree Road Van Dyke Road Oadby Road 3 10 19 9.45 11.01 Looking for blond lady owner of ridgeback

Brocks Hill Park Oadby Park 3 10 19 11.09 11.36 No issues spoke with gardener and walkers
Patrolling Date Time on Site Time Off Site

16/09/19 Willow Park Park Wigston 16 09 19 10.43 11.22 no issues 

Wigston Cemetery Cemetary Wigston 16 09 19 11.31 12.16 1 lot of fouling nr pathway

Hopwood Park /Playarea Park Wigston 16 09 19 12.22 1.14 talking to walkers

Pochin Close /Gas Lane Pathway Wigston 16 09 19 1.21 1.45 poo bags on floor in front of bin that had been emptied

Ellis Park Park Oadby 19 09 19 9.27 9.37 no issues 

Uplands Park Park Oadby 19 09 19 9.41 10.28 chatting with walkers

Florence Wragg Openspace Openspace Oadby 19 09 19 10.42 11.27 no issues 

Peace Memorial Park Park Wigston 19 09 19 11.39 11.44 No issues 

Garden St Sth Wigston Wigston Wigston 19 09 19 11.51 12.04 Spoke to complaiant regarding her complaint about stray sharpei

Blaby Mill Stables Stables Blaby 19 09 19 12.14 12.27 Spoke to owner of suspected straying sharpei

Patrolling Date Time on Site Time Off Site

09/09/19 ringers spinney oadby 10 09 19 8.55 9.41 no issues 

copse close /frome ave oadby 10 09 19 9.52 10.07 no issues 

halcroft rise wigston 10 09 19 10.21 10.32 no issues 

hillside rise wigston 10 09 19 10.34 10.47 no issues 

kingston ave wigston 10 09 19 10.54 11.43 no issues 

grassmere rd mere rd alleyway wigston 10 09 19 11.53 12.05 no issues 

bull head st wigston 12 09 19 7.57 8.21 no issues 

stanhope rd wigston 12 09 19 8.31 8.55 no issues 

kelmarsh st wigston 12 09 19 8.59 9.49 no issues 

peace memorial wigston 12 09 19 9.57 11.01 no issues 

Patrolling Date Time on Site Time Off Site

02/09/19 Ashtree Road Oadby Road 02 09 19 7.28 9.38 no issues 

Brocks Hill Park Oadby Park 02 09 19 9.46 10.39 no issues 

Uplands Park Oadby Park 02 09 19 10.43 11.41 no issues 

Florence Wragg Way Bin Oadby Park 02 09 19 11.48 11.49 no issues 

Florence Wragg Openspace Oadby Park 02 09 19 11.51 1.09 no issues 

Coombe Park Oadby Park 02 09 19 1.13 1.35 no issues 

Patrolling Date Time on Site Time Off Site

29/08/19 West Avenue Wigston house 29 08 19 7.45 9.01 Looking for loose staffie fouling in gardens

Willow Park Wigston multipurpose 29 08 19 9.06 9.32 No issues

Peace Memorial Wigston park/tennis/bowls 29 08 19 9.35 9.56 4 lots of fouling  one in the middle of the path

Pochin close / Gas lane Wigston pathway 29 08 19 9.59 10.03 Bin has been emptied but multiple bags of poo split open on pathway photos available.

Horsewell Lane Wigston playarea 29 08 19 10.21 10.24 No issues

Blaby Rd Park Wigston multipurpose 29 08 19 10.31 11.21 No issues

Brocks Hill Oadby multipurpose 29 08 19 11.31 12.58 No issues

Bennett Way Wigston flat 29 08 19 1.15 1.27 Went to visit compainant but not home left answerphone message

Wigston Cemetery Wigston cemetery 29 08 19 1.33 1.37 No issues

Wigston Fields Comm Centre Wigston playarea 29 08 19 1.43 1.48 No issues

Patrolling Date Time on Site Time Off Site

19/08/19 Willow Park Park Wigston 19 08 2019 11.45 11.51 no issues

Brocks Hill Park Oadby 19 08 2019 12.03 1.24 no issues raining really heavily

Ellis Park Park Oadby 19 08 2019 1.31 2.18 heavy rain no issues

Peace Memorial Park Wigston 19 08 2019 2.26 2.55 not much to see due to weather 

Willow Park Wigston Play area 22 08 2019 11.02 11.05 quick stop as saw a lady with a dog in play area. Asked her to leave the area.

Longford Close Wigston House 22 08 2019 11.13 11.34 Picked up stray jrt

Pochin Close and Gas Lane Wigston Pathway 22 08 2019 11.39 11.41 The bin has been emptied

West Avenue Wigston House Call 22 08 2019 11.45 12.03 Spoke to Complainant who reported loose dog fouling early morning, SBT.

Coombe Rise Oadby House Call 22 08 2019 12.12 12.34 Visited complainant re dog attack by ridgeback . Possibly same dog that was involved in an incident at Brocks Hill
Patrolling Date Time on Site Time Off Site

12/08/19 Bell St Council Offices Wigston 12 08  2019 10.58 11.06 Went to pick up spray paint but it was at the other office. 

~
 P

age 87 ~

A
ppendix 1



Pochin Close Wigston pathway 12 08 2019 11.08 11.11 Bin emptied but the 2 poo bags from last week still on floor in front of the bin

Station Rd Council Offices Wigston 12 08 2019 11.13 11.23 Paint collected

Peace Memorial Wigston park 12 08 2019 11.26 12.57 Gardeners had just been only 2 lots of fouling seen

Horsewell play area Wigston play area 12 08 2019 1.01 1.09 No issues

Wigston Cemetery Wigston cemetery 12 08 2019 1.16 1.31 No issues

Willow Park Oadby multipurpose 12 08 2019 1.35 2.45 Very busy but no issues

Ellis Park Oadby multipurpose 15 08 2019 8.31 Weather not good penalty sign defaced

Brabazon Rd Allotments Oadby allotments 15 08 2019 9.14 No issues

Uplands Park Oadby Park 15 08 2019 9.21 9.54 Grass being cut and bins being emptied

Florence Wragg Openspace Oadby park 15 08 2019 10.01 10.41 No issues

Hill Field Park Oadby Play area 15 08 2019 10.43 10.45 No issues

Florence Wragg Way dog bin Oadby Road 15 08 2019 10.46 10.48 Bin damaged needs repair

Coombe Park Oadby Park 15 08 2019 10.53 10.57 No issues

Rosemead Park Oadby Park 15 08 2019 11.02 11.18 No  issues grass being cut

Patrolling Date Time on Site Time Off Site

05/08/19 willow park wigston play skate park 05 08 2019 10.57 11.47 no issues

peace memorial wigston tennis/bowls /park 05 08 2019 11.51 1.27 spoke to walkers re fouling issues 4 lots of fouling seen today

pochin close wigston pathway 05 08 2019 1.31 1.37 bin overflowing was only emptied last Thursday

blaby rd park wigston multipurpose 05 08 2019 1.42 2.25 no issues

willow park wigston play skate park 08 08 2019 10.09 10.27 grass being cut no fouling seen

peace memorial wigston tennis/bowls /park 08 08 2019 10.31 11.55 2 lots of fouling seen spoke to walkers plus a lady with 2 off lead dogs

pochin close wigston pathway 08 08 2019 11.58 12.14 bin emptied 2 poo bags left on floor in front of the bin

brocks hill oadby multipurpose 08 08 2019 12.24 1.24 no issues

Patrolling Date Time on Site Time Off Site

29/07/19 willow park wigston play area 29 07 2019 9.43 9.56 no issues

william gunning park wigston play area 29 07 2019 10.03 10.07 no issues

meadows park wigston play area 29 07 2019 10.08 10.27 no issues

hayes park wigston play area 29 07 2019 10.41 11.11 no issues

firs play area wigston play area 29 07 2019 11.15 11.17 rubbish bin in play area full

steeples square wigston play area 29 07 2019 11.21 11.23 no issues

horsewell lane park wigston play area 29 07 2019 11.29 11.31 no issues

peace memorial wigston park 29 07 2019 11.34 11.48 2 lots of fouling one nr new bench

blaby rd park wigston multipurpose 29 07 2019 11.52 12.02 I lot of fouling and dog in basketball ct offlead no signs so not sure if this is allowed 

pochin close wigston pathway 29 07 2019 12.06 12.27 bin was only emptied this morning people who live nr bin complaining of mess and smell

wigston cemetery wigston cemetery 29 07 2019 12.37 12.52 man walking blue staffie off lead in cemetery . Spoke with him regarding this he apologised and put dog on lead 

ellis park oadby park 01 08 2019 10.59 no issues

brabazon rd allotments oadby allotment 01 08 2019 11.41 no issues

hillfield park oadby play area 01 08 2019 11.49 11.52 no issues

florence wragg open space oadby park 01 08 2019 12.01 12.49 no issues

fox hollow play area oadby play area 01 08 2019 1.01 1.03 no issues

coombe park oadby park 01 08 2019 1.07 1.09 no issues

morwoods play area oadby play area 01 08 2019 1.12 1.14 no issues

st peters chuchyard oadby cemetery 01 08 2019 1.16 1.24 no issues

oadby cemetery oadby cemetery 01 08 2019 1.26 no issues

sr peters pathway oadby pathway 01 08 2019 1.49 no issues

uplands park oadby park 01 08 2019 1.54 2.09 no issues

Patrolling Date Time on Site Time Off Site

22/07/19 ellis park oadby park 22 07 2019 9.41 10.29 patrolled tennis and park and play area spoke to park users

brocks hill oadby park 22 07 2019 10.32 11.55 walked outer pathways  and checked on play areas handed out some poo bags

peace memorial park wigston park 22 07 2019 12.11 12.38  checked the park no issues but gardeners had just been and cleared the area 

willow park wigston play/tennis/skate 25 07 2019 10.31 12.26 looking for frenchie that bit another dog

peace memorial park wigston park 25 07 2019 12.29 1.42 no issues 

pochin close /gas lane pathway wigston pathway 25 07 2019 1.46 1.51 bin overflowing and fouling nearby on edge of footpath

blaby rd park wigston skate /bowls/ play 25 07 2019 1.54 1.56 no issues and park empty due to heat 37 degrees 

Patrolling Date Time on Site Time Off Site

08/07/19 Blind garden oadby park 08 07 2019 09:50:24 10:04:48 no issues

Morewoods play area oadby playarea 08 07 2019 10:19:12 10:48:00 no issues

Oadby cemetery /St Peters pathwayoadby cemetery /pathway 08 07 2019 11:31:12 00:43:12  1 lot of fouling bin lid boken on pathway cemetery all clear stencils have helped

Brocks Hill Country Park Sml play area, Washbrook Lane, LE2 5JJoadby park 08 07 2019 01:55:12 06:14:24 Walked a lot of the outer pathways only 1 lot of fouling seen so very good

Peace memorial park wigston memorial park /tennis08 07 2019 08:09:36 11:31:12 5 lots of fouling despite stencils will spend a full shift to talk to park users . Plus bin still needs repair

Pochin close /Gas lane wigston pathway 08 07 2019 12:14:24 00:14:24 Bin full no issues otherwise

Ellis park wigston skate play bowls 08 07 2019 01:12:00 08:38:24 no issues chatted with walkers

~
 P

age 88 ~



Willow park wigston play /skate /tennis 08 07 2019 09:50:24 14:09:36 no issues 

Peace memorial park wigston park 11 07 2019 10:04:00 13:04:00

Patrolling Date Time on Site Time Off Site

01/07/19 Coombe Park, Coombe rise, LE2 5TTOadby Pathway b college 01 07 2019 6.58 9.05 Looking for walker possibly disobeying ct order no show

Brocks Hill Country Park Sml play area, Washbrook Lane, LE2 5JJOadby Country park 01 07 2019 9.15 10.31 Walked the woodland pathways

Ellis park Oadby Tennis/ play area 01 07 2019 10.35 10.43 No issues very quiet

Morwood play area Oadby Play area 01 07 2019 10.47 10.49 Nobody using playground

Uplands park Oadby Multipurpose 01 07 2019 10.58 11.49 Spoke to some walkers and gave  1 walker some poo bags

Beauchamp college pathway Oadby Pathway/fields 04 07 2019 8.09 9.35 Observed compaint with his dogs only wearing a halti and though on lead was letting them run without him holding the lead

Chicken alley swatlands Oadby Pathway 04 07 2019 9.42 9.58 Stencilled pathway

leicester rd Wigston Footpath 04 07 2019 10.06 10.15 Stencilled pathway

Durnford rd /weymouth close Wigston Footpath 04 07 2019 10.21 10.54 Stencilled all of weymouth close and durnford rd

Kevern close Wigston Residential 04 07 2019 10.59 11.01 Quick stop to see if reported dog was about but not there

Peace memorial park Wigston Bowls/tennis/ park 04 07 2019 11.04 11.45 No issues today very warm not many people about 

~
 P

age 89 ~



(Document is Restricted)

~ Page 90 ~

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5 Action List Arising from the Previous Meeting
	7 Review of Hackney Carriage / Private Hire Vehicle Policy (March 2020)
	Appendix 1 - Draft Hackney Carriage / Private Hire Vehicle Policy (March 2020)

	8 Licensing Update (Q2 & Q3 2019/20)
	Appendix 1 - Licensing Application Statistics (Q2 2019/2020)
	Appendix 2 - Licensing Application Statistics (Q3 2019/2020)

	9 Environmental Health Update (Q2 & Q3 2019/20)
	Appendix 1 - College Garth Patrols (Q2 & Q3 2019/20)

	11 Future of the Pest Control Service (March 2020) (Exempt Report)

